University of South Carolina Scholar Commons

Theses and Dissertations

Summer 2022

Preparing Students to Think in the 21st Century: The Impact Of Asynchronous Online Discussions on Critical Thinking Skills in A High School English Class

Evan Way

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarcommons.sc.edu/etd

Part of the Curriculum and Instruction Commons

Recommended Citation

Way, E.(2022). Preparing Students to Think in the 21st Century: The Impact Of Asynchronous Online Discussions on Critical Thinking Skills in A High School English Class. (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from https://scholarcommons.sc.edu/etd/6942

This Open Access Dissertation is brought to you by Scholar Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Scholar Commons. For more information, please contact digres@mailbox.sc.edu.

PREPARING STUDENTS TO THINK IN THE 21st CENTURY: THE IMPACT OF Asynchronous Online Discussions on Critical Thinking Skills in a High School English Class

by

Evan Way

Bachelor of Arts Albion College, 2007

Master of Education Cleveland State University, 2010

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

For the Degree of Doctor of Education in

Curriculum and Instruction

College of Education

University of South Carolina

2022

Accepted by:

Hengtao Tang, Major Professor

Michael Grant, Committee Member

Lucas Vasconcelos, Committee Member

Anna Clifford, Committee Member

Tracey L. Weldon, Vice Provost and Dean of the Graduate School

© Copyright by Evan Way, 2022 All Rights Reserved.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Thank you to my chair, Dr. Hengtao Tang, for your unwavering support, guidance, and confidence in me. The time you have devoted to helping me throughout this process is something that I will always remember and be thankful for. Thank you to my committee members, Dr. Michael Grant, Dr. Lucas Vasconcelos, and Dr. Anna Clifford for dedicating your time to helping improve my study through your recommendations and critical analysis. Thank you to all the professors I have worked with in the Learning Design and Technologies Program who have helped shape me as a scholar and educational leader. Finally, thank you to all the members of Cohort Slytherin, who have supported me through this entire experience.

ABSTRACT

The purpose of this action research was to evaluate how the implementation of asynchronous online discussions into the classroom impacts the critical thinking skills of secondary language arts students. Although critical thinking has shown to be an important 21st century skill (Paul & Elder, 2002), many students are leaving high school lacking the thinking skills necessary to succeed in a modern society (Arum & Roksa, 2011; Conley, 2015). Standardized testing results within the population of this study indicated similar critical thinking deficits as the rest of the nation. This study focused on two central research questions: (1) To what extent will the integration of asynchronous online discussions into the English curriculum impact the critical thinking skills of language arts students? (2) How do language arts students perceive the use of asynchronous online discussions to impact their critical thinking skills?

In this convergent parallel mixed methods study, students enrolled in my English 1 Honors course (n = 46) engaged in asynchronous discussion which was centered on a structured weekly debate. Debate groups received increasingly complex prompts each week and participated in required periods of reading, reflecting, writing, and responding. The Cornell Critical Thinking Test was used as a pre- and post-test to measure the impact of the intervention on student critical thinking skills. In addition, student discussion posts were analyzed at the beginning, middle, and end of the intervention with the Holistic Critical Thinking Scoring Rubric to examine how critical thinking skills evolved throughout the course of the study. Students completed a Likert style questionnaire, and

iv

a subset of students participated in focus group interviews about their perceptions of how asynchronous discussion impacted their ability to critically think. Transcripts of the focus group interviews were coded looking for patterns and similar ideas in order to generate general themes about the data. Results from all four measures indicated that asynchronous discussions positively impacted student critical thinking skills. Likewise, students had positive perceptions of asynchronous discussions and its impact on their critical thinking ability. Implications on developing secondary school students' critical thinking are discussed.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Acknowledgementsiii
Abstract iv
List of Tables viii
List of Figuresx
Chapter 1: Introduction
National Context1
Local Context4
Problem Statement
Researcher Subjectivities and Positionality6
Definition of Terms11
Chapter 2: Literature Review
Method of Review12
Critical Thinking14
Constructivism and Critical Thinking16
Social Interaction as a Strategy to Cultivate Critical Thinking20
Writing as a Strategy to Cultivate Critical Thinking
Asynchronous Discussion
Strategies to Promote Critical Thinking within Asynchronous Discussion26
Chapter Summary
Chapter 3: Methods

Research Design	6
Setting	8
Participants	9
Innovation	9
Data Collection	9
Data Analysis	4
Procedures and Timeline	6
Rigor and Trustworthiness	9
Plan for Sharing and Communicating	2
Chapter 4: Analysis and Findings	3
Quantitative Findings	3
Qualitative Findings & Interpretations7	5
Chapter Summary10	3
Chapter 5: Discussion, Implications, and Limitations104	4
Discussion	4
Implications11	1
Limitations11	7
Conclusion119	9
References	0
Appendix A: The Holistic Critical Thinking Scoring Rubric	4
Appendix B: Focus Group Interview Protocol	5
Appendix C: Question Adaptation for Perceptions of Asynchronous Online Discussion Questionnaire	6
Appendix D: IRB Approval	8

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1 Components of Instructional Design Targeting Critical Thinking	41
Table 3.2 Weekly Discussion Prompts	44
Table 3.3 Weekly Schedule	47
Table 3.4 Research Question and Data Source Alignment	49
Table 3.5 Correlations between CCTT and other Critical Thinking Tests	50
Table 3.6 Focus Group Interview Questions	52
Table 3.7 Survey Questions	53
Table 3.8 Research Question, Data Source, and Data Analysis Alignment	55
Table 3.9 Timeline of Participant Identification, ParticipantTraining, Data Collection, and Data Analysis	57
Table 4.1 Internal Consistency for Cornell Critical Thinking Test	65
Table 4.2 Descriptive Statistics for Cornell Critical Thinking Test	66
Table 4.3 Shapiro-Wilk Results for Cornell Critical Thinking Test	67
Table 4.4 Paired Sample t-test Results for Cornell Critical Thinking Test	68
Table 4.5 Wilcoxon Signed-Ranks Results for Cornell Critical Thinking Test	69
Table 4.6 Descriptive Statistics for Student Rubric Scores	70
Table 4.7 Repeated Measures ANOVA Results for Rubric Scores	71
Table 4.8 Post Hoc Results for Student Rubric Scores	72
Table 4.9 Cronbach's Alpha Results for Student Survey	72
Table 4.10 Descriptive Statistics for Student Survey	74

Table 4.11 Participant Demographics	76
Table 4.12 Summary of Codes Generated	78
Table 4.13 Themes Derived from Data Analysis	88

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 4.1 In vivo coding in Delve	80
Figure 4.2 Values coding in Delve	81
Figure 4.3 Transition to second-cycle initial categories	
Figure 4.4 First cycle of pattern coding	
Figure 4.5 Categorizing pattern codes	85
Figure 4.6 Grouping categories to form a theme	86

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

National Context

Due to advances in technology (e.g., smart phones), individuals are exposed to more information than ever before in history, making the ability to critically think and determine what to believe and what to ignore ever more important. In simple terms, critical thinking refers to the higher-order thinking skills that contribute to an individual's decision about what to do or what to believe (Ennis, 1993). Higher-order thinking includes the skills that fall higher on Bloom's Taxonomy and include actions such as applying, analyzing, creating, and evaluating (Song, 2019). An individual's ability to critically think can dramatically impact their life, and because of this, it is vital that educators develop these skills in students.

Although, the study of critical thinking can be documented as far back as Dewey (1910), it has seen a renewed emphasis in the field of education in the last 15 years (Ennis, 2018). Roth (2010) stated that developing critical thinking skills is now the primary goal of all levels of education. Bok (2005) also noted that in order to prepare students for the demands of a modern society, it is of utmost importance that instructors avoid allowing students to simply accumulate facts but teach them to critically think about the information they encounter.

In addition, the importance of critical thinking has gained significant attention from both political parties in the United States. In his 2014 State of the Union Address,

Barack Obama identified improving critical thinking as one of his major goals for education reform (Obama, 2014). Likewise, President George H.W. Bush included the development of critical thinking as one of his national education goals (Kubiak, 1991).

Despite the attention critical thinking has received in both the educational and political world, studies have shown that students are not leaving high school with the critical thinking skills necessary to excel at the collegiate level (Conley, 2015). In addition, a study of 2nd year college students from 29 different schools revealed that students showed little, if any growth in their ability to perform complex tasks such as critically think (Arum & Roksa, 2011).

In the high school classroom, critical thinking plays a major role in the way students write and analyze complex texts. This ability has become increasingly important as high-stakes standardized testing companies continue to implement questions and writing prompts that challenge a student's ability to critically think (ACT, 2019; Nickerson et al., 2014). Concern has grown over the fact that students in the United States are lagging behind other developed nations on standardized tests that require the use of complex thinking (e.g., Program from International Student Assessment [PISA], ACT, and SAT). Results from the 2015 administration of the PISA ranked the United States 31st worldwide in the composite score of Math, Science, and Reading (National Center for Education Statistics, 2017). Although many factors contribute to student performance on this test, it is clear that improving critical thinking could lead to a positive result on this assessment.

Researchers have shown that critical thinking can be cultivated (Mehta & Al-Mahrooqi, 2014; Z. Zhou, 2018); however, studies suggest that many teachers lack the

requisite pedagogical knowledge to develop these essential skills (Polat, 2015).

Likewise, most students are able to identify the importance of critical thinking but are unable to identify the skills that comprise this process (Forbes, 2018). Because critical thinking is such an important skill, it is vital that educators are prepared with the tools to cultivate this thinking in students.

A significant amount of research has been devoted towards developing strategies to improve critical thinking skills in students (Nold, 2017). Many studies point toward the effectiveness of discussion in cultivating this thinking (Gokhale & MaChina, 2018; Hall, 2015; Miri, David, & Uri, 2007). Although discussion takes place in most classrooms on a daily basis, many educators fail to utilize this process in a way that maximizes the development of critical thinking skills while also encouraging students to problem solve and make decisions (Gokhale & MaChina, 2018). Behar-Horenstein and Niu (2011) noted that educators often put too much effort into instructing students what to think rather than teaching them how to think. Garside (1996) identified several important features of discussions that encourage critical thinking, including higher-order questioning, paraphrasing, small-group problem solving, and active listening. In addition, Arend (2009) noted that providing students with pointed feedback on their discussion contribution was essential in developing thinking.

As technology becomes increasingly present in the modern classroom (Roberts, 2000), more opportunities have arisen for educators to implement peer-discussion through online platforms. Online discussion on threaded asynchronous discussion boards has been shown to yield improvements in critical thinking and overall student satisfaction with the class (Lo et al., 2011). Asynchronous discussion boards can also provide

opportunities for increased participation as well as the space to extend thinking with detailed contributions (Williams et al., 2015).

Local Context

This study took place at a large urban high school located in the Lowcountry of South Carolina. In 2018, 2302 students were enrolled, making it one of the largest high schools in the state (SC School Report Card, 2018). This school was composed of a highly diverse student body of 59% minority students with 34% of the total population coming from an economically disadvantaged home (SC School Report Card, 2018). This qualified it for Title I funding. In addition, the school's proximity to the Charleston Air Force base led to a high population of students coming in from other school districts with varying levels of achievement.

The school's vision was that all of its students will be prepared for college and career at the time of their graduation. However, important benchmarks showed that far too many students were underperforming in relation to their peers across the nation. Although the school had seen improvement in regards to graduation rate and college acceptance, on average students performed lower nationally on important measures such as the ACT, SAT, and Advanced Placement Testing (National Center for Education Statistics, 2011; The College Board, 2019). Students failed to perform on par with the nation on both the AP English Language and Composition and AP English Literature and Composition tests, scoring on average .50 and .54 levels below the national average respectively (The College Board, 2019). Furthermore, although students at this school consistently performed well on the English End of Course Exam comparatively to the rest

of the state, 41% of students still failed to achieve a 'C' on the test (SC School Report Card, 2018).

Pedagogical training from the National Math and Science Initiative was implemented in an effort to help students develop their writing and critical thinking skills. This intensive training provided educators with curriculum to help develop students' critical thinking skills in order to improve performance on high-stakes exams. However, much of this curriculum was only applicable on specific test questions and not focused on improving the overall critical thinking skills of students. Consequently, little growth was shown over the past five years on assessments that require higher-level thinking (The College Board, 2018).

In 2018, the district began requiring quarterly text-dependent analysis assessments that were standardized throughout the district but graded by individual teachers. Teachers made efforts to utilize this data among grade-level teams to collaboratively improve outcomes. However, little changed in student performance on standardized exams or in the way thinking was taught in the classroom.

Students in my English I Honors class struggled to analyze issues from multiple perspectives and generate responses that demonstrated more than just surface level understanding. They tended to ground their answers in their limited knowledge of the world. Although I saw high-level analysis generated through classroom discussion, due to the constraints of the classroom environment, not all voices could be heard and perspectives were limited to those who were comfortable speaking aloud. Collaboration could be made even more meaningful if all students had the freedom and space to voice their thinking.

Recently, the school adopted the Microsoft Teams platform as part of an initiative to increase technology usage in the classroom. Although this technology had been underutilized within the district, it provided educators with a variety of features to enhance student collaboration. In addition, the asynchronous discussion platform offered by Schoology allowed my students to collaborate more meaningfully without the restraint of time and place, which significant research has shown can enhance critical thinking skills in students (Arend, 2009; Ekahitanond, 2013; Nazleen & Rabu, 2013).

Problem Statement

Textual analysis essays and student performance on the South Carolina End of Course Exam indicated that students struggle to critically think.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this action research was to evaluate the impact of asynchronous online discussions on the critical thinking skills of high school language arts students.

Research Questions

Two research questions guided this study:

- 1. To what extent will the integration of asynchronous online discussions into the English curriculum impact the critical thinking skills of language arts students?
- 2. How do language arts students perceive the use of asynchronous online discussions to impact their critical thinking skills?

Researcher Subjectivities and Positionality

I made the decision to pursue a degree in educational technology because I have seen how technology has increasingly dominated the narrative of education since the beginning of my career. School leaders around the country are now including a technology integration component in their evaluations of teachers. However, I have noticed that when teachers are evaluated on incorporating technology in their class, they are only evaluated on the fact that students are simply using some type of technological device (e.g., watching a video). By only focusing on the technology and ignoring the importance of instructional design, the true impact of technology integration is missed. This misunderstanding of educational technology has led to many teachers resisting its use in their classrooms. I would like to be part of the movement that demonstrates that educational technology is about far more than the devices that are used. Educational technology is about using the functionalities of the technology to create learning environments that expand students' thinking to places that would not be possible without technology. To me, this program is about learning how to create these learning environments and using what I learn to improve the educational system as whole.

The ideal educational technology professional is an individual who is adaptive, forward thinking, passionate, and determined. I believe that these characteristics describe an individual who is able to meet the demands of the industry while at the same time moving it forward. Although there may be many setbacks, the ideal professional is determined to succeed and improve the field while maintaining the willingness to adapt when necessary. I believe that these are all traits that I possess as an educational technology professional.

One trait that I possess that I feel is particularly well-suited for the field is my ability to maintain the trust and respect of my colleagues. As I move forward with my career, I think this will help me to install changes within my school that are system-wide rather than just in my own classroom. Despite being respected and trusted by my

colleagues, I often get wrapped up with what is taking place in my own classroom and focus only on the students enrolled in my own classroom. However, it will important that I step out of my comfort zone and share my knowledge and experiences with my colleagues and other students as an educational leader.

Although I sometimes feel wrapped up in my own classroom, I have had experience leading departments and teams of teachers. This experience will help me as I push my school and my district to expand their vision of educational technology. Although I have experience leading as a teacher, I have always said that the role of school administrator is a position I would never be interested in. I believe teachers have the greatest opportunity to have an immediate impact on their students; however, as I work towards changing the system as a whole, my lack of experience as an administrator may be seen as a challenge to fitting into the role of an "ideal" educational technology professional.

As I progress with my research, I am most interested in learning about how critical thinking skills can be developed in students. I believe critical thinking is the most vital skill that can be developed in students. I want to know more about different strategies for its cultivation, especially how technology can be used to enhance these skills. I believe that critical thinking is a cross-curricular skill; therefore, what I learn from this research can be applied to all subjects, not just my own.

As someone who has lived and taught in several states, I have had a diverse range of experiences that I can bring to my research. As a student in grade school, I grew up in a time when computers and internet were first being incorporated into the classroom. I have seen first-hand how this technology has impacted the way students learn and how

teachers teach. Furthermore, within my career I have seen the rise of smart phones and their impact of both good and harm within the classroom. This experience has given me a unique perspective and has given me the ability to view educational technology from multiple angles.

Although growing up as technology was first being incorporated into the classroom was an excellent opportunity, my students only know the world from the perspective of the smart phone era. With these devices, they have the ability to know the answer to virtually any question they can think of within seconds. They will never know what it is like to search through an encyclopedia hoping that there may be some sort of helpful information. However, as educators we cannot ignore the fact that this is how the world works now. My goal is to harness these developments in technology to take student thinking to a place that was not possible in previous generations.

Teaching high school English has been both a passion and a profession for nine years now. I am motivated to teach my students a love of reading and writing, but more than that, to help them develop the thinking skills necessary to succeed in a continuously advancing world. I am certified to teach gifted and talented students, but I have taught every level of high school English, including college preparatory and honors level classes. I am currently a 9th grade English team leader, and I have been a mentor for first-year teachers for three years. It is my goal to take what I find in my research and use it to help my colleagues to improve the efficiency and productivity of their own practices.

I come from a large family of educators; ten people in my immediate family are teachers, ranging from elementary to college. When I first became a teacher, I inherited my aunt's life work: her entire English curriculum that she had been working on for 40

years. I have received more guidance and support from family about teaching than any other place. The lesson that was always instilled in me was that students need to be taught to think for themselves and to support what they say. It has helped me to understand that the best teachers are those who focus on the process of acquiring knowledge rather than the end product. This guideline has shaped me as an educator and drives my development of curriculum and how I instruct my students.

In my district, there has been a big push to incorporate more technology into everyday classroom instruction. However, I am very biased against being required to use technological devices that do not increase collaboration, productivity, or efficiency. I believe the real benefit of educational technology comes from creating learning environments that challenge and develop thinking through interaction and collaboration with peers. Simply word processing a document rather than hand-writing it is not unleashing the learning potential of educational technology.

As an educator, I conducted my research based on a pragmatic approach because of the paradigm's goal of addressing a problem within the real world (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). Pragmatism places emphasis on achieving improvement rather than meeting some condition of truth (Morgan, 2007). Furthermore, pragmatism allows the researcher to select methods which best meet the needs of students rather than placing restrictions on the selection of methodologies (Mertens, 2009). In addition, the pragmatic goal of social justice (Feilzer, 2010) plays an important role in my research outlook. It was important to me that my study not only achieve a positive result in my students, but also worked towards closing the achievement gap between students coming from different racial and socioeconomic backgrounds.

As a researcher I assumed an insider positionality within my study (Herr & Anderson, 2005). I assessed the success of the intervention I designed within my own context. As an insider, I had access to the trust and acceptance of my students. This positionality also fits with pragmatism which states that the researcher must interact with participants in order to most fully address the research problem (Hall, 2013).

Although my insider position within my study had many benefits and aligned well with pragmatism, Herr and Anderson (2005) note that this positionality can lead to researchers viewing their study more positively than results actually indicate. Clearly, as an educator I want to see my students excel, and as a researcher I wanted my study to demonstrate positive results. It was important that I acknowledged potential bias and took steps to ensure data was faithfully gathered and analyzed. This helped minimize the impact of researcher bias within my study.

Definition of Terms

- Asynchronous online discussion: "A text-based computer-mediated communication environment that allows individuals to interact with one another without the constraint of time and place" (Hew, Cheung, & Ng, 2010). This will consist of threaded discussions which are employed as a learning medium (Weltzer-Ward, 2014).
- 2. Critical thinking: Facione (1990) defines critical thinking as the "purposeful, self-regulatory judgment which results in interpretation, analysis, evaluation, and inference, as well as explanation of the evidential, conceptual, methodological, criteriological, or contextual considerations upon which that judgment is based."

CHAPTER 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

Method of Review

The purpose of this action research was to evaluate the impact of asynchronous online discussions on the critical thinking skills of high school language arts. This review of literature focuses on the two main research questions: (1) To what extent will the integration of asynchronous online discussions into the English curriculum impact the critical thinking skills of language arts students? (2) How do language arts students perceive the use of asynchronous online discussions to impact their critical thinking skills?

In order to most thoroughly address these questions, a careful research process was employed to develop this literature review. This was guided by the four main variables of this study: (1) critical thinking, (2) social interaction, (3) discussion, and (4) asynchronous online discussion. A variety of sources were used to obtain thorough information about each variable. This review process began by using two electronic databases, *ERIC* and *Education Source*, to search for published research on the variables. Various combinations of the following keywords were used to guide this search: critical thinking, higher order thinking, advanced thinking, critical thinking skills, asynchronous discussion, discussion, threaded discussion, discussion boards, and social interaction.

After review of the results of these search terms, the following additional terms were added to increase the breadth of the research and incorporate theoretical foundations

into the study: constructivism, mobile learning, 21st century skills, constructivist learning, active learning, writing, project-learning, asynchronous discussion design, student behavior, social learning. In addition, the *Google Scholar* search engine was used to locate additional publications using the same keywords. A significant amount of additional research was found by mining the references of publications found through the *ERIC, Education Source*, and *Google Scholar* search. *Google Scholar* was particularly useful in locating specific articles that were found through the mining process. Once references were found, they were carefully evaluated using guidelines from Pyrczak and Tcherni-Buzzeo (2019) to ensure the quality of the sources used within this literature review. Because of the timeliness of the topic, special consideration was given to articles published after 2015 to ensure the relevancy of the references.

This review of literature is divided into six separate sections. The first section will provide an overview of critical thinking and its importance in 21st century learning. Next, the theoretical foundations of constructivism will be connected to critical thinking and constructivist strategies to promote this skill will be discussed. Third, the importance of social interaction in constructivist learning and its use to develop critical thinking will be explored. The next section will review how writing has been used to promote social interaction and enhance critical thinking. Fourth, ASD will be defined and introduced as a method to combine social interaction and writing to improve critical thinking. Finally, strategies to enhance the impact of ASD on critical thinking will be reviewed, focusing on instructional design, instructor facilitation, and student behavior.

Critical Thinking

In a world of constantly accelerating complexity, individuals must develop the ability to think at a level that keeps pace with the advancement of modern society (Paul & Elder, 2002). This ability to critically think will play an increasingly important role in society; therefore, it is crucial to understand how it is defined and how it relates to the skills necessary to succeed in the 21st century. In this section, the theoretical foundations and the importance of critical thinking will be explored. It will begin by providing a research definition of critical thinking and then analyze how other researchers have contributed to our understanding of this concept. It will conclude by discussing the importance of cultivating critical thinking skills and its connection to 21st century skills.

This research used the definition put forth by Facione (1990), which states that critical thinking is "the purposeful, self-regulatory judgment which results in interpretation, evaluation and inference, as well as explanation of the evidential, conceptual, methodological, or criteriological, or contextual considerations upon which that judgement is based" (p. 3). This definition has been used in numerous other studies (e.g., Behar-Horenstein & Niu, 2011; Forbes, 2018) and is the guiding definition for the California Critical Thinking Skills Test (Knox, 2013).

Considerable research has been performed to add simplicity and clarity to the concept of critical thinking (e.g., Burbules & Berk, 1999; Chou, Wu, & Tsai, 2019; Giuliano & VonColln-Appling, 2017; Wang, 2017). Ennis (2018) simply defines critical thinking as "reasonable reflective thinking focused on deciding what to believe or do" (p. 181). It is important to note that critical thinking is not content specific and is more of a generalized list of abilities and thinking processes (Burbules & Berk, 1999). Paul and

Elder (2002) further describes this process by dividing thinking into two processes: firstorder and second-order thinking. First-order thinking is comprised of spontaneous and simplistic thinking (e.g. true or false) while second-order thought requires reflection and analysis of experience (e.g. critical thinking). Coming from an educational perspective, critical thinking is often classified using Bloom's Taxonomy (Wang, 2017). Within this taxonomy, Krathwohl (2002) places critical thinking at the top levels of complexity which includes analysis, synthesis, and evaluation. According to Bloom, Engelhart, Furst, Hilland Krathwohl (1956), these higher levels of thinking involve problem-solving and require individuals to "adapt knowledge to the new situations" (p. 41) through careful critical thinking. These studies generate a clear picture of critical thinking and help to identify its manifestation, and when taken in the context of this study, critical thinking can be defined as the careful analysis, synthesis, and evaluation of a given stimuli that results in an individual's decision on how to approach the situation.

Looking at critical thinking and the processes which define it, it is clear why it has been identified as one of the essential 21st century skills necessary to succeed in society. 21st century skills are the necessary cognitive, interpersonal, and intrapersonal abilities that individuals must possess in order to succeed in modern society (Pellegrino & Hilton, 2012). Of all these skills, critical thinking has shown to be one of the biggest indicators of life success. One study performed on community college students found that critical thinking was a strong predictor of positive life events, even greater than IQ (Butler et al., 2017). Additionally, in a content analysis of 142,000 job advertisements, Rios, Ling, Pugh, Becker, and Bacall (2020) found critical thinking to be one of the most frequently sought-after job skills by employers. Clearly this ability to think is not only an important

determinant of one's future success, but also a vital skill necessary to meet the demands of a 21st century job market.

Although research shows that critical thinking is a vital skill to meet the demands of the modern job market, in order to encourage the adoption of critical thinking within classrooms, educators must see that learning outcomes can be improved through its cultivation. Paul and Elder (2012) argue that the thinking process is an essential part of learning and state that "when you think poorly while learning, you learn poorly, and when you think well while learning, you learn well" (p. 144). This idea may be simplistic in nature, but it demonstrates the point that developing essential thinking skills in students can improve learning outcomes in students. Nosich (2012) adds that critical thinking prompts students to become active learners and can result in more lasting and meaningful learning. This demonstrates that not only is critical thinking an important skill for 21st century success, but also an important aspect of meaningful learning. With that being said, identifying how learning theory is connected to critical thinking can help develop instructional strategies to most effectively encourage and develop this skill.

Constructivism and Critical Thinking

There is a close connection between critical thinking and constructivism (Ertmer & Newby, 2013). This section will look to demonstrate this connection and provide a theoretical foundation for the methods of this research. It begins by discussing the foundations of constructivist theory and its essential components, including the factors that influence learning. The connection between critical thinking and constructivism will then be explored. This section concludes by providing examples of constructivist learning strategies which have shown to be effective in cultivating critical thinking.

Constructivism

Constructivism is a learning approach with roots in the theories of Dewey (1910), Piaget (1972), Bruner (1974), and Vygotsky (1978). Under this approach, learning is the result of the interaction between experience and existing knowledge structures resulting in the formation of new constructs (Ertmer & Newby, 1993). As opposed to other theories such as Behaviorism, learning is an active process which requires interaction with the environment and reflection on experiences (Tam, 2000). In constructivist environments, learning is a social process where learning is shared between the student and the teacher, who acts as the facilitator (Olusegun, 2015). This knowledge can be developed through meaningful discussions that generate the necessary thinking to alter existing constructs. Cooperstein and Kocevar-Weidinger (2004) note that applying constructivist principles of active learning and social interaction into the classroom can making learning more meaningful, transferable, and increases the likelihood that knowledge will be retained and applied outside the classroom setting. Additionally, this approach encourages student engagement with class material, encourages diverse perspectives, and increases linkages between other subject areas (Howard & Brady, 2015). These benefits make constructivism an ideal approach to generate the learning outcomes necessary in a modern classroom.

Learning in Constructivism

In constructivism, the acquisition of knowledge occurs through an active process in which an individual creates meaning through the interaction with the environment, collaboration with peers, and problem solving (Jonassen, 1991). Within this constructivist learning environment, there are numerous factors which have shown to

influence learning. Lunenburg (2011) states the students should be encouraged to frequently interact with their environment rather than being passive recipients of information. Furthermore, learning should take place in an authentic setting which allows individuals to construct meaning through collaboration and problem solving (Mergel, 1998). It is important that the instructor allows students the opportunity to actively create knowledge by playing the role of the facilitator rather than strictly delivering information (Tam, 2000). Additionally, incorporating social interaction through collaboration and discussion has been shown to be an effective strategy to encourage students to alter their current knowledge structures (Jonassen et al., 1995). Creating learning environments that incorporate these factors can lead to improved learning outcomes and generate the high-level thought that is necessary to encourage critical thinking.

Constructivist Instructional Strategies

Numerous effective instructional strategies have been developed that are informed by constructivism. These strategies use the learning factors noted above to create environments conducive to constructivist learning. One of the most prevalent constructivist learning strategies is project-based learning, and significant research has been devoted to this design (e.g., Kokotsaki, Menzies, & Wiggins, 2016; Mahasneh & Alwan, 2018; Sumarni, 2015; Tamim & Grant, 2013). Jones (2017) describes an example of this strategy in which students are tasked with performing an investigation into a problem and collaboratively coming up with a solution through discussion and careful analysis of evidence. This learning strategy creates a learning environment that is driven by students, focuses on problem-solving, and encourages peer interaction through discussion and critical reflection about experiences.

Constructivist Instructional Strategies to Enhance Critical Thinking

Many of the skills focused on in constructivism share a close relationship with critical thinking. A key commonality of these two concepts is the focus on elaboration rather than memorization (Ertmer & Newby, 2013). Elaborating on learning experiences forces students to make connections to previous experience by critically thinking about their relationship to existing constructs (Tam, 2000). This requires careful observation and analysis of the environment through critical thinking, reflection, and social interaction. Hurst, Wallace, and Nixon (2013) note that the use of discussion is a particularly effective tool for learning and in the cultivation of thinking. The close relationship between critical thinking and constructivism makes the constructivist approach ideal when designing instruction to cultivate critical thinking skills (Guiller et al., 2008).

Significant research has been performed in effort to identify learning tools within the constructivist approach which impact critical thinking (Cooperstein & Kocevar-Weidinger, 2004). Although, constructivism is a diverse approach and encompasses a wide variety of learning tools, writing and social interaction are two of the primary tools used which have shown to impact student critical thinking skills (Olusegun, 2015). One study on collaborative learning environments found that groups with higher levels of discourse outperformed those with less participation in academic literacy tests, indicating that critical thinking was positively impacted through participation in group learning (Zhao & Chan, 2014). Likewise, Jarvis and Baloyi (2020) found that writing activities

such as reflective journaling had a positive impact on student critical thinking performance. These studies suggest that incorporating both social interaction and writing into the instructional design of the classroom can have a positive impact on the cultivation of critical thinking skills. Both tools will be discussed in detail in the following sections.

Social Interaction as a Strategy to Cultivate Critical Thinking

Social interaction is an important component of constructivism and has shown to be an important strategy in the cultivation of critical thinking skills (Perrow, 2017). The following section will first define social interaction and analyze what social interaction looks like in a constructivist approach. Strategies for using social interaction to promote critical thinking will then be explored.

In order to fully understand the relationship between social interaction and critical thinking, a definition and description of social interaction must first be established. According to Kreijns, Kirschner, and Jochems (2003), social interaction is the process by which a shared understanding is developed through interaction with others. Social interaction is an essential component of knowledge construction and helps individuals to develop their understanding of concepts (Vygotsky, 1978). This process is not only a foundation for constructivist learning theory (Olusegun, 2015), but has also shown to be an important strategy for the cultivation of critical thinking skills. Palincsar (1998) noted that higher forms of mental processing have origins in social sources. Creating an environment that encourages social interactions between students can help students engage in the activities necessary to generate critical thinking

Discussions have been shown to be effective in creating the social interactions necessary to stimulate critical thinking (Osborne et al., 2018). One study on the benefits of social interaction found that the elements of critical thinking were most often demonstrated during classroom instruction (Hajhosseini et al., 2016). Similarly, Salter, Douglas, and Kember (2017) noted that loosely structured discussions encouraged divergent thinking, which was identified as an important component of critical thinking. The use of discussion has also shown to be effective in improving student beliefs about their own ability to critically think about issues. In a study examining the development of critical thinking skills in college, Espey (2018) found that students perceived classes utilizing frequent social interaction to have a greater impact on their critical thinking ability than traditional lecture classes. Social interaction and discussion in particular have shown to have a positive impact on student thinking. Incorporating this into a classroom setting could help students develop these vital thinking skills.

Although various instructional strategies have shown success in generating social interaction and cultivating critical thinking, the Socratic method is frequently mentioned in the literature as an effective strategy to encourage the type of thinking necessary to generate higher-order thinking (Lee et al., 2014). In Socratic seminars, students generate ideas through discussion and a careful questioning process requiring clarification and analysis of evidence that leads to deeper levels of thought and understanding (Kalelioğlu & Gülbahar, 2014). Yang, Newby, and Bill (2005) applied this strategy in a university-level distance learning course. It was found that encouraging social interaction through Socratic questioning produced evidence of higher levels of critical thinking, which was maintained after the exposure to the treatment. These results also suggest a relationship

between critical thinking and written discussion, which played an important role in the study.

Writing as a Strategy to Cultivate Critical Thinking

Writing is a commonly used tool to promote social interaction and cultivate critical thinking (Sanchez & Lewis, 2014). This section will review how writing has been used to promote social interaction and generate improvements in critical thinking.

The ability to express oneself through writing is an essential 21st century skill that students must develop in order to succeed in modern society. Increasingly, writing has been used as a collaborative process to not only improve the quality of writing, but also to incorporate social interaction and develop the divergent thinking necessary to impact critical thinking skills (Bean, 2011). Lin and Yang (2011) found that social interaction played a significant role in students' perceived benefits of the writing process. Students reported believing that social interaction improved the quality of their writing and increased their confidence in the ability to fulfill the requirements of the assignment. Furthermore, Belcher, Hall, Kelley, and Pressey (2015) noted that responding to peers through writing led to improved learning outcomes and students often preferred peer feedback over instructor feedback. Clearly, writing can be utilized within the classroom to develop the essential social interaction necessary to improve communication skills and generate the higher-order thinking necessary to cultivate the critical thinking skills of students.

Critical thinking has also been closely connected to writing, and evidence has been provided that suggests incorporating critical thinking into writing can stimulate enhancements in critical thinking ability (Liu & Stapleton, 2018). One study found that

students who were taught writing in conjunction with direct instruction in critical thinking demonstrated significantly higher levels of critical thinking on argumentative writing tasks (Nejmaoui, 2019). An additional study examining writing tasks that required critical thinking not only led to improvements in writing, but also lead to improved critical thinking skills (Zhu et al., 2014). This reinforces the work of Pei, Zheng, Zhang, and Liu (2017), who found a close relationship between writing ability and critical thinking. The researchers reported that growth in writing ability frequently resulted in a similar improvement in critical thinking skills. These studies suggest that incorporation of writing tasks require critical thought in conjunction with direct critical thinking instruction can lead to improvements in overall critical thinking ability.

Asynchronous Discussion

As technology use has become more prevalent throughout society, ASD has become an increasingly used teaching tool in schools (Hew et al., 2010). This section will first provide an operational definition of ASD and then review the numerous ways it has been used in education. Research will also be reviewed that studied student perceptions of ASD and its impacts on their learning.

ASD has evolved into an effective instructional tool that has been used for varied purposes and in a variety of platforms (Dipasquale & Hunter, 2018). Hew, Cheung, and Ng (2010) define ASD as "text-based computer-mediated communication environment that allows individuals to interact with one another without the constraint of time and place" (p. 572). These text-based communications consist of threaded discussions which are employed as a learning medium (Weltzer-Ward, 2014).

Although simplistic in nature, ASD has been incorporated into education for numerous instructional goals. One such application of this tool has been the development of divergent thinking. For example, Lennon (2017) studied the use of ASD to facilitate discussions on controversial subjects to help students look at issues from a variety of different perspectives. Teachers were able to guide the discussion flow to encourage inquiry and direct students to higher-level thinking. Results indicated that both active and passive participants of these discussions were able to achieve learning goals. Likewise, Hou, Wang, Lin, and Chang (2015) used ASD to develop structured class debates. Participants demonstrated a greater frequency of higher order thinking and results also suggested a connection to improved class performance. The divergent thinking demonstrated in both studies indicates that ASD can be used to help students view class material from numerous perspectives, which is an important criterion in developing meaningful learning experiences and critical thinking (Paul & Elder, 2002).

Encouraging social interaction is a commonly cited purpose for the inclusion of ASD into an instructional setting (Foo & Quek, 2019). From a constructivist perspective, the incorporation of social interaction is a vital component to any instructional design. ASD provides students with the opportunity to socially interact with course material in manner that has demonstrated a positive impact on learning outcomes (Yang, Gamble, Hung, & Lin, 2014). Alzahrani, (2017b) found a significant correlation between participation in ASD and final course grade. This suggests that the collaborative aspect of the ASD could lead to improved learning outcomes and mastery of course material. Similarly, Cheng, Paré, Collimore, and Joordens (2011) demonstrated positive effects on student performance when ASD was introduced into the curriculum. In particular, the

amount of time spent reading posts on the forum was shown to have a notably significant impact on test performance. The social aspect of ASD is clearly one of its most beneficial components and places it well within the pedagogy of constructivist learning theories.

Although studies have shown the numerous benefits of participating in ASD (Dipasquale & Hunter, 2018), it is important to help students avoid the negative behaviors that are detrimental to their learning and the learning of their peers. The negative behavior, commonly referred to as "lurking," involves students reading the posts of their peers but not contributing posts of their own (Küçük, 2010). This lurking behavior can detract from the richness of the discussion and eliminate important perspectives from the conversation. Cheng et al. (2011) noted that some benefits ASD may still be achieved; however, the full potential of the tool is not realized if all members of the ASD are not providing meaningful contributions. Clearly, facilitators must take steps to ensure lurking is eliminated in order to ensure that ASD is achieving its maximal effectiveness.

Despite the potential for negative behaviors, ASD has shown to be an effective instructional tool and has grown to be increasingly widespread. Because of this, it is important to understand how students perceive this tool and its impact on their educational growth. In a study on the impact of a collaborative ASD learning platform in a face-to-face class, results showed that students appreciated the ability to engage with course content in various ways and felt it had a positive impact on their class performance (Swart, 2017). Another study found that students preferred to engage in ASD over traditional face-to-face discussions (Guiller et al., 2008). Additionally,
students demonstrated more evidence of critical thinking within ASD when compared to traditional classroom discussions. Perhaps one of the factors contributing to this preference is a sense of comfort in communicating virtually over face-to-face. Bardakci, Arslan, and Can (2018) found that the lack of self-confidence was one of the primary boundaries that prevents students from participating in classroom activities. Furthermore, students were more comfortable to freely express ideas in an online environment when compared to the traditional classroom setting. These studies suggest that ASD can be used be used to enhance student perceptions of their ability to critical thinking about course content.

In addition to the clear positive impacts on learning, studies have shown the incorporating ASD into the instructional environment can have a positive impact on the development of a student's critical thinking skills. By incorporating elements of social interaction and writing into one instructional tool, ASD possesses many elements which can contribute to this vital 21st century skill (Gao, Guo, & Wang, 2018). Significant evidence has been provided that suggests adding ASD into the instructional design of a class can lead to growth in critical thinking (Hall, 2015). Therefore, it is important to discuss how ASD can be used to achieve this growth.

Strategies to Promote Critical Thinking within Asynchronous Discussion

As we move into a 21st century learning environment, many of these interactions can now be enhanced through the use of technology through its ability to support conversation and collaboration into the learning environment (Jonassen et al., 1995). ASD has frequently been identified as a learning tool that incorporates the elements of Constructivism into a 21st century learning environment aimed at developing essential

critical thinking skills (e.g., Szabo & Schwartz, 2011; Zhao & Chan, 2014). With that being said, significant research has been performed to improve the quality of ASD and ensure critical thinking goals are achieved. This section will review strategies that have been used to enhance the development of critical thinking in ASD. It will review how instructional design, instructor facilitation, and student behavior have been used to create an environment that promotes the development of critical thinking skills.

Improving the Instructional Design of ASD to Promote Critical Chinking

Although significant evidence has shown that ASD can lead to the cultivation of critical thinking, it is important to identify the specific instructional strategies that have shown to be effective in generating these thinking skills. The following section will review how (a) approach, (b) scaffolding, (c) question prompts, (d) grouping, and (e) rubrics have been used to stimulate critical thinking within ASD.

Approach. There are numerous approaches to ASD that have been utilized to cultivate critical thinking. Schindler and Burkholder (2014) identified several basic approaches to ASD which have shown to be most frequently used for the promotion of critical thinking. One such approach is the cased-based approach which has been used in many disciplines and encourages the application of conceptual principles to real-life practices. Koole et al. (2012) incorporated these discussions into dental education courses to encourage active learning and provide students with an opportunity to relate theory to practice and encourage critical thinking. Another commonly used approach is problem-based design. This focuses on presenting students with an ill-structure problem which they must collaboratively solve through discussion. de Jong, Verstegen, Tan, and O'Connor (2013) applied this approach to prepare masters students to adapt to the

problems they may face within public health. Although positive learning results were reported, Wu, Hou, Hwang, and Liu (2013) found that problem-based discussion resulted in high frequencies of low-level discussions which were not conducive to the development of critical thinking. Finally, the debate approach centers ASD around an argument. As with traditional face-to-face debates, students are assigned a side of an issue and tasked with developing an argument for their position. Darabi, Arrastia, Nelson, Cornille, and Liang (2011) found that students exhibited more complex thought within debates and engaged in frequent critical thinking, especially when attempting to justify their position to their classmates.

Scaffolding. Within the instructional design of ASD, it is important that a plan be in place to provide instructional support to students in order for them to reach learning goals that they would not be able to master alone. Spatariu and Winsor (2013) noted that providing this learning support increases the quality of posts and can help guide students to higher levels of thinking. In a study performed on undergraduate students, Ak (2016) found that providing students with sentence starters for their discussion posts led to more task-related learning activity. This suggests that sentence starters can be effective in guiding students to developing posts that demonstrate the targeted higher-order thinking that is necessary in the cultivation of critical thinking skills. Similarly, Gao (2014) found that incorporating discussion labels (e.g., questioning, challenging, building) was effective in generating the types of posts that were desired by the instructor. Students who effectively used the discussion labels more frequently extended their thinking and overall led to a deeper discussion when compared to the control group. Incorporating

these scaffolds into an ASD environment could guide students to targeted higher-order thinking, and lead the development of the desired critical thinking skills.

Question prompts. The development of properly constructed question prompts can play an important role in creating an ASD environment that is conducive to the cultivation of critical thinking. In a study on undergraduate students, Liu and Stapleton (2018) found that utilizing discussion prompts that contained problem-solving as one of the main tasks led to more diverse language and enhanced critical thinking. Infusing these types of questions into ASD is essential to creating an instructional design that stimulates critical thinking. Tiruneh, De Cock, and Elen (2018) noted that these types of questions must be systematically infused into the curriculum and play an important role in the student's learning process. Aloni and Harrington (2018) suggested numerous strategies for creating effective question prompts which include targeting Bloom's Taxonomy's highest levels, using creative approaches such as role-playing and debates, and focusing on the use of divergent prompts instead of convergent questions. It is evident that designing an ASD environment focusing on these carefully chosen question prompts can lead students to display critical thinking skills and improve their ability to interact with their peers at a higher cognitive level.

Grouping. Group size can play an important role in promoting critical thinking within ASD. Although ASD is capable of hosting a large number of participants in a discussion, researchers suggest that smaller discussion groups are more effective in generating critical thinking (Scanlan & Hancock, 2010). One study on the impact of group size on higher-level knowledge construction in ASD found that smaller discussion groups demonstrated critical thinking more frequently in their interactions (Hew &

Cheung, 2011). The authors suggested that students participating in smaller discussion groups were more likely to engage with their classmates in meaningful discussions. Likewise, Afify (2019) found that small (n=5) and medium-sized (n=12) ASD groups demonstrated greater critical thinking improvements than those students participating in large discussion groups (n=32). This suggests that instructional designers should carefully manage the size of their discussion groups, and in larger classes create multiple sections in order to achieve maximum development of critical thinking in students.

Rubrics. Rubrics have shown to be effective in outlining the expectations of a discussion and can help guide students to developing responses that demonstrate the target thinking of the assignment. One study found that students indicated higher satisfaction with the course, increased confidence in their ability effectively complete ASD posts, and increased discussion grades when given a rubric prior to the completion of the assignment (Wyss et al., 2014). Another study focusing on the development of higher-order thinking found that students who were given rubrics prior to engaging in ASD more frequently demonstrated higher level thinking than those who do not receive the treatment; although, no significant difference was found in test performance (Giacumo et al., 2013). However, Giacumo and Savenye (2020) found that providing too much guidance in discussions can have a negative impact. Within their study, students who received rubrics showed positive results; however, students who received a rubric and instructor prompting scored lower than students who received no guidance at all. These results suggested that providing clear and concise performance expectations can positively impact results while too much instruction can negatively impact a student's ability to meet expectations.

Strategies for Facilitating ASD to Promote Critical Thinking

The facilitator plays an important role in managing student discussions and ensuring consistently high expectations of posts. Chiu and Hew (2018) stated that properly facilitated ASD can result in better learning outcomes and performance. Therefore, it is important to identify effective facilitating strategies to cultivate critical thinking. The following section will describe the impact of (a) feedback, (b) timeliness, (c) setting expectations, and (d) post frequency.

Feedback. ASD should be primarily student driven and facilitators should allow this to happen by limiting their direct involvement within the discussion (Belcher et al., 2015). Despite this fact, most students prefer an online environment with some instructor involvement (Hew, 2015). Facilitators do play an important role in guiding students to meeting the expectation of the discussion by providing targeted and meaningful feedback. When attempting to cultivate critical thinking, it is vital that facilitators provide positive feedback to discussion submissions that show evidence of higher-order thinking (Beckmann & Weber, 2016). Furthermore, Lewandowski, Barneveld, and Etmer (2016) stated that facilitators can help students move towards effective discussion practices by incorporating targeted prompting into their feedback. This prompting includes logistical, subject matter, application, process and affective. Incorporating each of these strategies into the feedback provided by the facilitator was shown to lead to deeper and more meaningful discussions. Chakrabarti (2010) noted that instructor feedback had a strong positive effect on ASD quality and was essential in maintaining interest and motivating students to participate. Aloni and Harrington (2018) also emphasized the facilitator role in communicating the purpose and value of the discussion through feedback. In order to

cultivate critical thinking within ASD, facilitators must provide careful and pointed feedback targeted at encouraging the desired critical thinking behavior.

Timeliness. The timing of facilitator feedback has shown to play an important role in both student satisfaction with the course and student learning (Schindler & Burkholder, 2014). Facilitators must decide on how to plan their feedback schedule in order to allow students the necessary wait time to encourage critical thinking while maintaining a positive and encouraging social presence within the course (Yang et al., 2014). Skramstad, Schlosser, and Orellana (2012) found that most students preferred instructor feedback within 24 hours of their posting. Although this may not be possible in all scenarios, providing regular and timely feedback is essential in developing a social, cognitive, and teaching presence, which are three vital components of an ASD environment designed to cultivate critical thinking (DeNoyelles et al., 2014).

Frequency. Effective ASD designs include student led discussions with limited yet well-timed instructor involvement. Maddix (2012) warned that too much instructor involvement within ASD can stifle student creativity and have a detrimental effect on the development of their critical thinking skills. However, Lewandowski et al. (2016) found that some facilitator involvement within ASD can help guide the discussion to greater depths of thinking. Arend (2009) added that critical thinking can best be encouraged when instructor participation is less frequent but more purposeful. Responding to every topic within a discussion can result in the increased likelihood of students adapting their viewpoints to converge with the facilitator's (Bliss & Lawrence, 2009). When it comes to frequency, facilitators should adopt a "quality over quantity" approach to the

frequency of their contribution, focusing on encouraging student contributions that demonstrate critical thinking.

Student Behavior that Promotes Critical Thinking

Studies show that certain student behaviors are conducive to the generation of critical thinking within ASD (Goggins & Xing, 2016). The process of both reading and responding to peers is essential to the establishment of a successful discussion board. Therefore, it is important to identify the student reading and posting behavior that leads critical thinking. The following section will describe the desired student behavior, including reading behavior and posting behavior. This section will conclude by describing negative student behaviors that can be detrimental to the discussion and inhibit the cultivation of critical thinking skills.

Reading behavior. Much of a student's time participating in ASD is devoted to reading and interpreting the posts of others. Wise, Speer, Marbouti, and Hsiao (2013) define this process as "online listening" and state that it is essential to the cultivation of critical thinking within ASD. One study on high school students in Taiwan indicated that the length of time participating in ASD was positively correlated to higher performance on assessments involving critical thinking (Lai & Hwang, 2014). This suggests that students who devote more time to reading the posts of their peers are exposed to more diverse perspectives and are better prepared to approach issues in a more critical manner. Likewise, Goggins and Xing (2016) found that the number of times that students read posts had a significant impact on learning performance. Clearly, student reading behavior plays an important role in the success of an ASD and measures should be taken to encourage careful reading of discussion posts.

Posting behavior. Similar to reading behavior, studies have shown that the frequency and length of student discussion posts have a significant correlation to learning and critical thinking within ASD (Goggins & Xing, 2016). In a study focused on improving the depth of thinking within ASD, Williams et al. (2015) found that extended posts produced significantly more divergent thinking while shorter posts correlated to significantly less instances of higher-order thinking. This suggests that providing a length requirement to posts could contribute to increasing the presence of critical thinking within ASD. Additionally, Gao et al. (2018) found that contributions that incorporated experience and external sources resulted in significantly more evidence of critical thinking than posts which relied on opinion or one information source. Therefore, encouraging students to combine multiple sources of information into their discussion posts could lead to increased levels of higher-order thinking and the cultivation of critical thinking skills.

Chapter Summary

With a rapidly advancing society, critical thinking is becoming one of the most essential skills that can contribute to an individual's success in life (ŽivkoviŁ, 2016). This skill is not one ability, but a combination of attributes that contribute to an individual's decision on how to interact with world. Clearly, it is vital that educators utilize evidence-based approaches to help students cultivate their critical thinking skills. Constructivism has shown to be an effective approach in the generation of these skills. Within this approach, the use of social interaction and writing have proven to be effective to in achieving these learning goals. ASD combines both of these strategies and significant research has shown that well-designed discussions within ASD lead to

increased divergent thinking and the cultivation of critical thinking (e.g., Osborne et al., 2018). Creating student-driven discussion through effective instructional design and facilitation can lead to desired student behavior which has shown to be effective in the cultivation of critical thinking (Schindler & Burkholder, 2014).

Research has provided evidence that ASD can be effectively used to cultivate critical thinking (Hew et al., 2010); however, most of this research is focused on university students and distance education. Very little research has been performed investigating how ASD impacts public high school students or the instructional design that is most effective in cultivating these skills within this group.

As public schools across the country are increasingly adopting technology platforms which include one-to-one initiatives, it is important to develop instructional methods using this technology to cultivate the critical thinking skills necessary to prepare them to succeed in the 21st century. Previous research shows that ASD is a promising tool to accomplish this, and further study is required to demonstrate its impact on students and provide educators a viable strategy to develop the critical thinking of their students.

CHAPTER 3

METHODS

As noted in previous sections, the purpose of this action research was to evaluate the impact of asynchronous online discussions on the critical thinking skills of high school language arts students. Two research questions will be addressed within this study: (1) To what extent will the integration of asynchronous online discussions into the English curriculum impact the critical thinking skills of language arts? (2) How do language arts students perceive the use of asynchronous online discussions to impact their critical thinking skills?

Research Design

As an educator, it is important that I take an active role in the research I am conducting within my classroom. It was vital that in my research I continued my role as an effective teacher while implementing instructional strategies that I believed would be most effective in accomplishing learning goals. Therefore, action research was the most appropriate design to address my research questions. This type of research allowed me to maintain my role as an instructor while studying how asynchronous discussion impacts my students' critical thinking skills. Mertler (2017) noted that action research is particularly well-suited to classroom teachers as it requires that the researcher plays a "participative" role throughout the research process (p. 18). Furthermore, as a classroom teacher I acknowledged the value of improving the global education system; however, my primary concern was improving the learning of the students within my classroom and

within my school. This focus was closely aligned with the goals of action research which aim to create a series of practices that directly impact the community being studied (Gustavsen, Hansson, & Qvale, 2008) and to generate "timely action and inquiry" (Torbert & Taylor, 2008, p. 239).

Action research is defined as a "family of practices of living inquiry that aims, in a great variety of ways, to link practice and ideas in the service of human flourishing" (Bradbury & Reason, 2008, p. 1). It is a systemic inquiry conducted by educators that considers the unique characteristics of their environment in order to improve their effectiveness in their own practice (Mertler, 2017; Parsons & Brown, 2002). The research process follows a basic cyclical four-stage procedure of planning, acting, developing, and reflecting (Mertler, 2017). Although many methods follow a similar procedure, action research is distinguished from other research methodologies by its central focus of achieving change within the immediate context of the researcher (Small, 1995).

Six key principles characterize action research: "(1) grounded in lived experience, (2) developed in partnership, (3) addressing significant problems, (4) working with people, (5) developing new ways of seeing the world, (6) leaving infrastructure in its wake" (Bradbury & Reason, 2003, p. 155). In general, these characteristics give action research the advantage over other methods when the goal is to enact change on a targeted population. Also, action research can help connect theories developed in a traditional research setting to what actually takes place in the real world (Johnson, 2008). In my research, the ability to take an active role in the study as a research insider and closely

work with the participants significantly aided my ability to address my research questions while improving as an educator and developing my students as learners.

For my study, a convergent parallel mixed methods design was utilized to answer my research questions most comprehensively. This design allows the researcher to merge qualitative and quantitative data to provide a complete understanding of the issue (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). Because there are many factors that led to my research problem, it was important to generate many sources of data in order to most effectively address the research problem and examine the data from multiple perspectives using multiples instruments. This design also aligned closely with the principles of action research, which emphasizes the use of all appropriate resources to most effectively enact the change required to address the research problem (Mertler, 2017).

Setting

This action research took place at large urban high school located in the Lowcountry of South Carolina. As noted in chapter 1, the school was composed of a highly diverse student body of 59% minority students, with 34% of the total population coming from an economically disadvantaged home, qualifying it for Title I funding (South Carolina School Report Card, 2018). The study took place in English 1 Honors classrooms with curriculum guided by the South Carolina College- and Career-Ready Standards for English Language Arts. These standards outline the necessary skills that students are expected to master in order to reach the learning goals outlined by the state. Along with these standards, curriculum was guided by a district-level initiative to increase the use of technology in the classroom. Laptops were purchased for each student in the Fall of 2020. This gave each student access to technology hardware in

each class throughout the school day. With this major investment came the expectation that students use these devices frequently during class in a manner that was both collaborative and innovative. Consequently, this research study will play a major role in pioneering the instructional strategies that are used within the school, especially the strategies that aim to develop critical thinking.

Participants

Students were invited to participate in the study based on their enrollment in my English 1 Honors course. Honors classes at this school are self-selected and students do not need to demonstrate evidence of advancement to enroll in them. Therefore, not all the students in the class were performing above grade level as would be expected in a traditional high school honors class. Consequently, a wide range of abilities were represented within the sample. The sample was made up of two different classes with an average of 25 students per class. The total sample size was 46 students, comprised of a near equal ratio of male and female students. Although some students were enrolled during limited portions of the study, only data from students who were present at all points provided relevant data. It is also important to note that asynchronous online discussion was new to most of these students. Although most of them use social media and text messaging frequently throughout the day, this was the first time many of the students have conducted online discussions in an academic setting.

Innovation

This section will describe in detail how the innovation of this research, an asynchronous online discussion, took place. It will begin by providing a brief description of the academic context where the innovation will occur. Next, the instructional design

of the ASD will be described with connections to prior research. The roles of the participants of this innovation will then be discussed, including the instructor and the student. Finally, an innovation schedule will be outlined which provides a daily schedule for how the innovation progressed.

Context

The innovation was implemented during a six-week English 1H unit on argumentation. This unit provided instruction on the basic elements of rhetoric, including logos, ethos, and pathos, with the goal of improving the students' ability to create wellsupported arguments, analyze the arguments of others, look at issues from multiple perspectives, and think critically. Students were introduced to various argumentative speeches (e.g., Martin Luther King's "I Have a Dream"), in addition to various other argumentative writings. At the end of this unit, ASD played an important role as students took what they learned and applied it to their discussion contributions.

Instructional Design of the Innovation

The instructional design of this innovation was grounded in the principals of constructivist theory, focusing on creating a learning environment which stimulated social interaction through collaboration and discussion (Jonassen et al., 1995). This innovation is divided into four key components that include: approach, communication of expectations, prompts, and roles. Each of these components will be discussed in detail below. Table 3.1 provides an outline of the instructional strategies that were used within each component to target critical thinking.

Table 3.1

Instructional Design Component	Critical Thinking Strategy	Innovation Component
Approach	• Online Debate (Aloni & Harrington, 2018; Schindler & Burkholder, 2014)	Students engaged in a weeklong asynchronous debate.
Communication of Expectations	 Discussion Rubric (Giacumo et al., 2013) ASD counts as moderate amount of course grade (Hew & Cheung, 2011) Provide examples and non- examples of acceptable discussion contributions (Huang, 2017) 	The Holistic Critical Thinking Scoring Rubric (Insight Assessment) was used to assess student posts in order to assign a class grade and determine each student's depth of thinking. Students were also provided with examples and non- examples of acceptable posts during the weeklong training period.
Question Prompts •	• Open-ended questions focusing on divergent thinking (Dipasquale & Hunter, 2018)	Discussion prompts were open-ended and required students to analyze topics from multiple
	 Targeted at upper levels of Bloom's Taxonomy (Jin & Jeong, 2013) Relevant to students' lives (Mehta & Al-Mahrooqi, 2014) 	perspectives. Topics were selected based on student interest and relevancy to their lives.
Roles	 Instructor Encourage posts that demonstrate evidence of critical thinking by providing written feedback within the discussion board through active monitoring and written feedback 	Instructor The instructor monitored student posts through the course of the debate and posted encouraging feedback to students who met critical thinking expectations. Instructor

Components of Instructional Design Targeting Critical Thinking

Instructional Design	Critical Thinking Strategy	Innovation Component	
Component			
	 (Dipasquale & Hunter, 2018) Focus on highlighting important posts, pointing out themes, and correcting inaccurate posts (Y. Wang & Chen, 2011) Provide limited but purposeful contributions and allow students time to think through issues (Arend, 2009) 	feedback was limited but purposeful to allow students to think through issues.	
	Student	Student	
	 Devote significant time to reading posts before responding (Lai & Hwang, 2014) Incorporates external sources or experiences into post (F. Gao et al., 2013) Makes frequent posts of extended length (Williams et al., 2015) 	Students were allotted one day each week where they were required to read and reflect on their classmates' posts. They were also required to incorporate outside resources into each of their debate contributions. Finally, requirements of post frequency and post length were clearly outlined for students at the beginning of each debate.	

Approach. The instructional design of the ASD took an approach centered on debate as described in Aloni and Harrington (2018) and Schindler and Burkholder (2014). In this approach, students were required to take a position on an issue and justify their response using solid logical reasoning and appropriate evidence. Within this innovation, students were assigned a position on a relevant issue (e.g., the abolition of the death penalty) and given the task of writing an argument that supported their position.

Aloni and Harrington (2018) noted that assigning students to sides of an argument can help prevent students from relying solely on opinion to support their argument. Students were encouraged to seek outside resources in order to strengthen their arguments and counterarguments. Students were also encouraged to point out logical fallacies and inconsistencies in reasoning. These asynchronous took place over the course of a week as students were required to respond to others on the opposing side of the argument. They responded to all students, with well-reasoned and research-backed replies, who attempted to refute their own argument.

Communication of expectations. In order for students to receive the full benefit of the innovation, they need to understand its expectations and see its importance (Hew & Cheung, 2011). This study used The Holistic Critical Thinking Scoring Rubric (HCTSR) which was developed by Insight Assessment (see Appendix A). In order to further clarify expectations for students, examples and non-examples of successful discussion posts were presented and discussed with students (Huang, 2017). The facilitator also communicated the significance of ASD to students and stress the importance of devoting time and energy to meeting the expectations of each assignment. Additionally, students received class grades for their participation and acceptable contributions to the ASD. Hew and Cheung (2011) noted that providing classroom grades to these contributions helps the student place value on the ASD and devote increased mental effort towards their contribution.

Prompts. The discussion prompts utilized in this innovation were open-ended and required students to look at issues from multiple perspectives in order to develop a solid argument and develop their counter-argument response to other students (Dipasquale &

Hunter, 2018). These questions were relevant to the students' lives and will be targeted at the upper levels of Bloom's Taxonomy (Seddon, 1978). All discussions took place on the Schoology application, which is the standard learning management system used throughout the district. A new discussion prompt was assigned each week and questions escalated in complexity as students became more experienced and accustomed to the ASD format and expectations. This complexity was determined by the number of outside sources required for the response and by concepts that students were asked to discuss. For example, the prompt from Week 1 was a concept that was familiar to students and required no outside sources while the prompt for Week 5 required three outside sources and required students to research multiple aspects of the prompt (e.g., What is a law and why do we follow them?). Table 3.2 displays the discussion prompts for each week.

Table 3.2

Weekly	Discu	ission	Prompts
~			1

Week	Prompt
1	Should students be required to wear school uniforms at Fort Dorchester High School?
2	Should homework be banned? Incorporate at least one outside source into your answer.
3	Should limits be placed on the amount of screen time teens are allowed to experience each week? Incorporate at least two outside sources into your answer.
4	The second amendment states that "a well-regulated Militia, being necessary to the security of a free State, the right of the people to keep and bear Arms, shall not be infringed." Based on this definition, do you think the United States government has the right to create laws that ban assault style weapons? Incorporate at least three outside sources into your answer.
5	Martin Luther King argued that an "unjust law is no law at all" and, therefore, we should only be required to follow just laws. Should you

follow all laws or just the laws that you deem just? Incorporate at least three outside sources into your answer.

Discussion Roles

The description of the discussion roles within this ASD were divided into two categories: instructor and student. Both roles played an important role in the ASD experience and will be discussed in detail below

Instructor role. The role of the instructor was to facilitate students towards developing posts that demonstrated critical thinking. However, researchers have shown that the instructor should limit involvement within ASD to avoid biasing students towards the instructor's opinion (Aloni & Harrington, 2018). The instructor's goal was to develop a student-centered ASD with encouraging responses on student posts that demonstrated evidence of the desired critical thinking behavior while refraining from inserting their opinion into the discussion. In this intervention, the instructor refrained from commenting on students' initial posts each week to avoid influencing them to think a certain way. After students responded to each other in the second round of discussion posts, the instructor posted comments on student contributions that demonstrated the desired characteristics of critical thinking. In addition, posts that do not meet expectations received probing comments to think deeper, such as "what are some other ways you could look at this issue?" These comments were made by the instructor directly onto the ASD platform. After each week, the instructor also provided a report to students highlighting themes of the week's discussions that were positive as well aspects that students need to work on for the following week's discussion.

Student role. In addition to contributing posts, a primary role of the student was to closely read their classmates' posts. Students were expected to spend significant time engaged in this behavior, which has shown to enhance the quality of discussions as well as encourage divergent thinking (Lai & Hwang, 2014). The instructor ensured this happened by clearly outlining expectations during the training period, and actively monitoring posts to ensure students contributed meaningful posts that showed evidence of thought. Since all discussion posts were made during class, the instructor monitored each student to ensure they were devoting appropriate time to their contributions. Also, each post a student made was expected to fulfill the requirement of the HCTSR which detailed expectations of posts.

Prior Instruction

Before beginning the intervention, students received instructions on the basics of argumentative writing and rhetoric. This instruction focused on the principals of logos, ethos, and pathos as well as identifying logical fallacies (e.g., ad hominem). They were then exposed to various pieces of argumentative writing such as Martin Luther King's "Letter from a Birmingham Jail" and asked to analyze them for aspects of rhetoric and evaluate them on their quality of argument. They also watched various persuasive speeches and were asked to perform the same analytical and evaluation procedures. The objective of this prior instruction was to familiarize students with the components of argumentation to prepare them to engage in a quality debate with their classmates.

Innovation Schedule

Before the ASD started, a week-long training period took place to introduce students to the concept of critical thinking and teach them how to use the ASD platform.

Students were shown various examples and non-examples of appropriate ASD posts. Students were also given a schedule of weekly prompts, put into debate groups consisting of two students (i.e., one student on each debate side), and assigned positions on each topic. Clarifications were provided for any questions that students may have had at this time. At the conclusion of this training period, a practice mini-discussion forum was held. This was an hour-long period where students engaged in a condensed version of the weekly debate schedule. The following topic was used: "Should violent video games be banned for teenagers?" The instructor stopped after each phase to identify different discussion contributions that demonstrate desired thinking. The goal of this training period was to provide students with the necessary information to engage in ASD properly and efficiently at the beginning of the innovation.

Each week of the intervention followed a consistent routine, allowing students to quickly acclimate to the ASD procedures. It is important to note that during the weeklong training period, students were informed of their debate topics and groups for each of the five weeks of the intervention. The schedule that was followed each week is outlined below in Table 3.3.

Table 3.3

Weekly Schedule

_	
Day	Task
Monday	Initial post due
	•
Tuesday	Reading period
1	Towning Porton
Wednesday	Perponse to classimates due
wednesday	Response to classifiates due
Thursdow	and askysted as sets due
Thursday	2 reduital posts due

The innovation took place over a five-week period, with each week featuring a new discussion prompt. The prompts grew increasingly complex as the innovation progressed. This scaffolding helped students gain confidence in their initial interaction with ASD and remain comfortable as the prompts became increasingly challenging (Nazleen & Rabu, 2013).

As noted above, students will have already received their debate topics and groups during the training period. On Mondays, students submitted their initial post to the discussion board. These posts were expected to meet the guidelines outlined in the ASD rubric. At this point the instructor did not respond to any posts unless there was something obviously wrong (e.g., the student answered the wrong prompt). On Tuesdays, students were given the task of reading all the posts within their debate group and begin formulating a response to those on the opposing side of the argument. On Wednesdays, students submitted their response to their partner who was on the opposing side of the debate. At this point, the instructor also began commenting on posts of students. The instructor's role followed the guidelines set forth in the section above. On Thursdays, students provided their response to their partner who commented on their initial post. These posts directly addressed the arguments made against their initial post. Finally, on Fridays, students reflected on the debate as a whole with their last discussion post and discussed what they learned during the process. Each week of the innovation will follow this process with different topics and different debate partners.

Data Collection

In order to most completely and thoroughly address the research questions, four separate data sources were utilized that were comprised of both qualitative and quantitative data. The four data sources were (1) CCTT, (2) HCTSR, (3) student focus group interviews, and (4) student survey. Table 3.4 aligns the research questions to each data source.

Table 3.4

Research	Ouestion	and Data	Source Alignm	ent
Rescuren	Question	unu Duiu	Source mightin	

Research Question	Data Source
RQ1: To what extent will the integration of	Cornell Critical Thinking Test
asynchronous online discussions into the	 Holistic Critical Thinking Scoring Rubric
English curriculum impact the critical	
thinking skills of language arts students at	• Student Focus Group Interviews
Fort Dorchester High School?	
RQ2: How do language arts students at For	• Student Focus Group Interviews
Dorchester High School perceive the use of	• Student Survey
asynchronous online discussions to impact	
their critical thinking skills?	

Cornell Critical Thinking Test (CCTT)

All participants took the CCTT before the intervention as a pre-test and at the end of the intervention as a posttest. This assessment was aligned to RQ1. The CCTT is a

71-item multiple choice assessment of critical thinking that is intended to be taken by students in grades 4-12. The test uses the definition of critical thinking put forth by Ennis, Millman, and Tomko (2005) which states that "critical thinking is reasonable and reflective thinking focused on deciding what to believe or do" (p. 1). Based on this, four key aspects of critical thinking were identified and include (1) induction, (2) observation, (3) deduction, and (4) assumption. Each question on the test is tied to at least one of the aspects of the identified aspects of critical thinking and assesses students' ability to utilize these skills.

Numerous studies have shown that the CCTT is both a reliable and valid assessment (Ennis et al., 2005). Previous studies using this assessment have reported scores of .67 to .90 on the Kuder-Richardson. Scores above .70 indicate high levels of reliability. In addition, content validity is established by adhering closely to the cognitive skills of critical thinking as outlined in (Ennis et al., 2005). Further, content validity is established by the prevalence of the adoption of the test by scholars, human resource professionals, and large corporations (Ennis et al., 2005). The construct validity of the CCTT was established by correlating the results of the test to other measures that examine the same construct. Table 3.5 shows the correlations between the CCTT and other tests measuring critical thinking.

Table 3.5

Correlations between CCTT and other Critical Thinking Tests

Test	Correlation of Result
Watson- Glazer	range from .41 to .49
Logical Reasoning Test, Part II, Form A	.50

Test	Correlation of Result
Ottis-Lennon	Range from .44 to 74
Houghton Mifflin Cognitive Abilities Test	.53
California Test of Mental Maturity	.49
SCAT Verbal	.45
Scholastic Aptitude Test	.52

The Holistic Critical Thinking Scoring Rubric (HCTSR)

The HCSTR was used to assess the level of critical thinking present in student discussion posts. With this rubric, points were awarded for accurate interpretations, identifying important arguments, analyzing alternative points of view, justifying key results, and correctly following evidence. Students could earn up to 4 points for a perfect score (see Appendix A for complete rubric). The HCTSR will be used to analyze each of the four discussion posts (initial, response, rebuttal, and reflections) made each week during the intervention to provide evidence of how student critical thinking skills have evolved. All student posts will be scored with the HCTSR at the end of each week. Two separate graders will score each post to establish inter-rater reliability.

Student Focus Group Interviews

Focus group interviews gave me the opportunity to gain valuable information through open-ended questions, as well as probes, for further clarification and deeper understanding (Mertler, 2017). Interview questions were developed by the researcher to closely align with the critical thinking criteria of the CCTT. An expert reviewed these questions to confirm the appropriateness of content and language from my target

audience. Students were also selected to preview the questions to confirm that they were understandable.

Student focus group interviews took place at the conclusion of the intervention. Four groups of four students were invited to participate in these focus group interviews which lasted approximately 30 minutes. The interviews were audio recorded and transcribed, and handwritten notes were be taken while the focus group took place. Interview questions were aligned to RQ1 and RQ2 and asked students to describe their perceptions of asynchronous online discussion and its impact on their critical thinking (e.g., *Describe your overall experience with online discussion*). Table 3.6 lists each interview question (see Appendix B for complete interview protocol). This data was used to develop a detailed description of student perceptions of the intervention.

Table 3.6

Focus Group Interview Questions

Question

- 1. Describe your experiences with online discussions over the past 6 weeks.
- 2. Describe your interactions with your peers during online discussion.
- 3. How do you think online discussions impacted your understanding of rhetoric?
- Describe how online discussions impacted your ability to look at issues from different perspectives.
- 5. Describe how you think online discussion impacted your critical thinking ability.

Student Survey

The student survey was administered online via a Google Forms survey to all students at the conclusion of the innovation. All students who completed the intervention will be invited to complete the survey. The survey was an adapted version of the *Perceptions of Asynchronous Online Discussion Questionnaire (PAOD)*, which Lee (2013) found to be valid and reliable ($\alpha = .90$) (see Appendix C for alignment between original survey questions and adapted survey questions). Modifications to the PAOD were also examined by an expert to confirm that changes were appropriate. These questions asked students to numerically rate their level of agreement with different statements about the intervention. Table 3.7 provides a list of each question that was asked on the survey.

Table 3.7

Survey Questions

Question

- 1. Online discussions help me learn about rhetoric.
- 2. Online discussions help me understand the relationship between rhetoric and society.
- 3. Online discussion help me better understand class lessons.
- 4. Online discussions help clarify some rhetorical strategies.
- 5. Online discussions help integrate rhetorical concepts of knowledge.
- 6. Participating in online discussions promote my learning motivation.
- 7. I enjoy participating in online discussions.
- 8. Online discussions are boring.

- 9. Online discussions are time consuming.
- 10. Online discussions are stressful.
- 11. Online discussions help me ability of reading persuasive texts.
- 12. Online discussions improve my persuasive writing ability.
- 13. Online discussions improve my critical thinking skills.
- 14. Online discussions improve my ability to look at issues from different perspectives.
- 15. I am satisfied with my own performance in online discussions for this course.
- 16. I am satisfied with interaction with my classmates in online discussions for this course.
- 17. I am satisfied with my instructor's feedback in online discussions for this course.

Wallace, Kelcey, and Ruzek (2016) note that student surveys of their learning environment can be both "reliable and predictive of learning" (p. 1836). Quantitative data will be gathered from this data source and will be aligned with RQ2. This data will be used in conjunction with the student focus group interviews to address RQ2.

Data Analysis

The following section will discuss how data was analyzed to address RQ1 and RQ2. Table 3.8 describes how each research question was studied with a qualitative and a quantitative data source.

Table 3.8

Research Question, Data	Source, and Data A	Analysis A	lignment
-------------------------	--------------------	------------	----------

Research Question	Data S	ource	Data A	nalysis
RQ1: To what extent will the integration of asynchronous online	1.	Cornell Critical Thinking Test	1.	Descriptive statistics and paired t-test
discussions into the English curriculum impact the critical thinking skills of language arts	2.	Discussion Post Rubric Scores	2.	Descriptive statistics and repeated measures ANOVA
students at Fort Dorchester High School?	3.	Student Focus Group Interviews	3.	Inductive analysis
RQ2: How do language arts students at Fort Dorchester High	1.	Student Focus Group	1.	Inductive analysis
School perceive the use of asynchronous online discussions to impact their critical thinking skills?	2.	Interviews Student Survey	2.	Descriptive statistics

Quantitative Analysis

Three sources of quantitative data were used for this study: The Cornell Critical Thinking Test (CCTT), The Holistic Critical Thinking Rubric (HCTSR), and the student survey. On the CCTT, test scores were calculated with the following formula: correct answers minus one half the number of wrong answers. This formula accounts for guessing as recommended in Ennis, Millman, & Tomko (2005). Pre- and post-test scores were compared using a paired t-test to determine if scores on each test result in a statistically significant difference with an alpha level of .05 (Adams & Lawrence, 2018). This data was used to provide evidence of whether student critical thinking skills improved over the course of the intervention. Discussion board posts were scored using the HCTSR. Descriptive statistics were used to analyze each week's critical thinking performance by comparing the weekly means of each subscale. In addition, a repeated measures ANOVA was conducted comparing the results of Week 1, Week 3, and Week 5. This data provided evidence of how critical thinking skills developed throughout the intervention.

For the student survey, Likert data was analyzed using descriptive statistics of central tendency. The mean and standard deviation were used to present the results. This data was used to describe how students perceived different aspects of the intervention, as well as their own perceptions of how their abilities to think critically think were affected by the intervention.

Qualitative Analysis

Qualitative data will be used in conjunction with quantitative data to thoroughly address RQ1 and RQ2. Data analysis of student interviews began with the transcription of the entire interview recording into text. Following this step, student interviews and discussion board posts were systematically analyzed using inductive analysis (Mertler, 2017). Data was first analyzed using in vivo coding and values coding in Delve to chunk sentences into conceptual categories (Corbin & Strauss, 1990). The next stage of analysis was pattern coding to categorize coded elements by looking for patterns or repeated elements (Creswell, 2017). Codes with similar ideas were grouped together into the same category. At the final level of analysis, I reflected on all stages of the process in order to determine any patterns or relationships that may emerged. Broad themes about the data were generated inductively, which addressed RQ1 and RQ2. Findings were represented in a descriptive narrative that provided "thick and rich" description of the emergent themes and student perceptions of the intervention (Creswell, 2014, p. 260).

This description was extremely detailed and utilized numerous examples in order to allow the reader to accurately visualize how the study took place (Creswell & Miller, 2000).

Procedures and Timeline

The procedures and timeline for this study included four phases: Phase 1:

Participant Identification, Phase 2: Participant Training, Phase 3: Data Collection, and

Phase 4: Data Analysis. Each of the phases will be discussed in detail in the following

section. Table 3.9 is also included to detail the time frame for each of the phases.

Table 3.9

Timeline of Participant Identification, Participant Training, Data Collection, and Data Analysis

Phase		Expectation	Time Frame
Phase 1: Participant	1.	Identify participants	2 weeks
Identification	2. 2	Distribute parent letter	
	э.	interviews	
	4.	Obtain assent and consent	
Phase 2: Participant Training	1.	Train students on use of	1 week
		ASD platform	
	2.	Train participants on	
		expected discussion	
		contributions and	
		moderation.	
Phase 3: Data Collection	1.	Administer critical	5 weeks
		thinking pre-test	
	2.	Implement ASD	
		innovation	
	3.	Administer critical	
		thinking post-test	
	4.	Administer student	
	_	perceptions survey	
	5.	Conduct focus group	
	~	interviews	
	6.	Score discussion posts	
		with rubric	

Phase 4: Data Analysis

 Transcribe student 5 Weeks interviews
 Analyze interviews with inductive analysis
 Descriptive statistics (student survey)
 Paired *t*-test (critical thinking pre- and post-test

Phase 1: Participant Identification

Participant identification for this research began in the Fall of 2021. All students enrolled in my English class during this semester were considered for participation. Once participants were identified, a letter was sent to parents providing the necessary information for them to provide informed consent for their child. Students were also asked to assent to participate. Once informed consent and assent were obtained, all students were given the opportunity to volunteer to participate in group interviews at the conclusion of the study.

and rubric scores)

Phase 2: Participant Training

During Phase 2, participants were first trained on how to use the ASD platform. They were given instruction on how to navigate the program and allowed to familiarize themselves with its operation. Particular attention was paid to ensuring students were able to contribute discussion posts and respond to the posts of their peers. Once students were proficient with the program, they were given instruction on the expectations of ASD contributions. These instructions included resources such as the rubric and examples of successful and unsuccessful posts. Finally, students participated in a practice discussion board activity to ensure they were able to meet the expectations of post contributions.

Phase 3: Data Collection

Participants began Phase 3 by completing the CCTT pre-test. This test was not analyzed until Phase 4. After students completed this initial assessment, the ASD innovation began. All participants were expected to contribute to the discussion boards as outlined in the rubric they received in Phase 2. At the conclusion of the ASD innovation, students were administered the critical thinking post-test. This data was compared to the pre-test in Phase 4. Next, all students were given the student survey. The final stage of Phase 3 was focus group interviews. Groups of participants selected in Phase 1 were interviewed about their perceptions of the ASD intervention. The interview was audio recorded and the interviewer took notes as the focus group interview proceeded. These interviews lasted between 20 and 30 minutes.

Phase 4: Data Analysis

The voice recording from the group interviews was first transcribed. The transcriber was careful to transcribe the exact words that were used during the interview process. Following transcription, data was coded for themes using the inductive analysis process described previously. Next, data from the student survey were analyzed using descriptive statistics. These statistics was used to support the themes generated during the interview analysis. Finally, the pre- and post-critical thinking test was compared using paired *t*-tests to determine if there was a significant difference in scores on the assessments.

Rigor and Trustworthiness

In research, it is important that findings accurately describe the phenomena that occurred during the course of the study and measures are taken to ensure the rigor and

trustworthiness of the results. My study employed numerous methods to ensure the trustworthiness of the findings. The methods of prolonged exposure, thick and rich description, and statement of subjectivity and reflexivity have been discussed in previous sections. The methods of triangulation, peer debriefing, and member checking will be discussed in the following section.

Triangulation

Mertler (2017) states that triangulation is the process of relating multiple sources of data in order to obtain a more comprehensive description of the phenomena and increase the accuracy of the results. This study used triangulation to check for consistency between qualitative and quantitative data sources (Patton, 1999).

In this study, the findings for each research question were triangulated using multiple sources of data. Data from the CCTT, HCTSR, and focus group interviews were compared to generate more trustworthy themes about RQ1. Likewise, data from student focus group interviews was related to data from the student surveys in order to corroborate findings about RQ2. By triangulating the findings for both research questions, a more comprehensive and trustworthy result was achieved in this study.

Peer Debriefing

Peer debriefing is a process by which the data, methods, and results are reviewed by an individual who is familiar with the research being conducted (Mertler, 2017). Creswell and Miller (2000) states that in this process a "peer reviewer provides support, plays devil's advocate, challenges the researchers' assumptions, pushes the researchers to the next step methodologically, and asks hard questions about methods and

interpretations" (p. 129). This process deterred me from overlooking important details and ensured all aspects of the study were thoroughly supported and explained.

Peer debriefing took place at two levels for this study. First, my cohort colleagues provided continuous feedback about every aspect of my research throughout the course of my study. Second, my dissertation chair performed a comprehensive review of my research to ensure my findings were accurate and every aspect of my research was clear and fully described.

Member checking

Lincoln and Guba (1985) define member checking as a process by which the results of a research study are shared with the "stakeholding groups from which the data was originally collected" in order to verify the accuracy of the findings (p. 314).

During the process of member checking, participants were given a report of the findings from my research study. After participants were given adequate time to review the findings of the study, I met with them in groups of five to discuss.

Researcher's journal

A researcher's journal was kept to document observations and experiences that occurred throughout the intervention. Creswell and Creswell (2018) note that this documentation can help ensure that results are reliably reported by the researcher. In addition, if changes needed to be made during the intervention (e.g., circumstances required the debate topic to altered), this would have be documented in the researcher's journal to make sure the results reflected what took place during the intervention.
Plan for Sharing and Communicating

The findings of my action research study were shared with all stakeholders at various levels of involvement. First, at the conclusion of the study, research participants were given a presentation that outlines the findings of the research. Participants were also given an electronic survey link which allowed them to make recommendations about improvements or suggest additional inquiries. Parents were also sent a brief written summary of the findings and an opportunity was given for them to address any questions or concerns they may have had. Second, I will present my findings to my colleagues within my school at a weekly professional development session. This presentation will be brief and focused and include only information that teachers may find valuable as noted by Mertler (2017). Finally, findings will be presented district-wide at our annual professional development conference, Learning by Design. This will be a more detailed presentation and district attendees will receive more information about the methodologies used in the study. Throughout the sharing process, I will ensured that confidentiality and anonymity was maintained; no personal information that could tie students to the study was used and pseudonyms were used when names were required (Mertler, 2017).

CHAPTER 4

ANALYSIS AND FINDINGS

The purpose of this action research was to evaluate the impact of asynchronous online discussions on the critical thinking skills of high school language arts students. This study was guided by two research questions:

- To what extent will the integration of asynchronous online discussions into the English curriculum impact the critical thinking skills of high school language arts students?
- 2. How do high school language arts students perceive the use of asynchronous online discussions to impact their critical thinking skills?

To investigate these questions, all participants completed the Cornell Critical Thinking pre- and post-intervention as well as a student survey. In addition, student discussion posts were evaluated using the Holistic Critical Thinking Scoring Rubric. Finally, 16 students participated in focus group interviews which were coded for analysis. The findings of this study will be discussed below and are divided into two sections: (1) quantitative and (2) qualitative.

Quantitative Findings

The results of the quantitative data analysis from each of the instruments will be discussed in this section. Quantitative data were collected using three instruments: (1) The Cornell Critical Thinking Test (CCTT), (2) The Holistic Critical Thinking Scoring Rubric (HCTSR), and (3) a student survey on perceptions of critical thinking during

asynchronous online discussion. The information discussed in this section will present the descriptive statistics for all instruments and inferential statistics for the CCCT and HCTSR. This section will begin with the presentation of the results of data collected from the CCTT, followed by the HCTSR, and conclude with the student survey data.

Cornell Critical Thinking Test

The Cornell Critical Thinking Test (CCTT) was administered to participants at the beginning and end of the intervention. The test contained 76 multiple choice questions with each question containing three answer choices. Questions were grouped into four separate critical thinking subscales: (1) induction, (2) observation, (3) deduction, and (4) assumption. Students were given 50 minutes to complete the test as recommended in Ennis et al. (2005).

Reliability for this instrument was established using Cronbach's alpha to measure internal consistency. According to Adams and Lawrence (2019), values of .70 or higher are considered to be internally consistent. Table 4.1 displays the results of each Cronbach's alpha calculation. Both the pre-test and the post-test met the acceptable value of consistency with scores of .92 and .79 respectively. Subscales such as induction, deduction, and assumption on the post-test failed to achieve acceptable levels of consistency; although, previous studies have demonstrated internal consistency on these subscales (e.g., Ennis, 2005). This will be discussed later as a limitation of the study.

Table 4.1

	Cronbach's Alpha		
Subscale	Pre-Test	Post-Test	
Induction	0.67	0.34	
Observation	0.80	0.60	
Deduction	0.91	0.79	
Assumption	0.77	0.64	
Total	0.92	0.79	

Internal Consistency for Cornell Critical Thinking Test Cronbach's Alpha

Descriptive statistics. First, descriptive statistics were calculated for the total test and each subscale. The mean for each subscale was generated by calculating the average number of correct responses. Overall, mean test scores improved in every area. Table 4.2 displays the results for each measure. Total score on the post-test (M = 42.12, SD = 12.40) was higher than on the pre-test (M = 35.29, SD = 12.40). Among subscales, Deduction saw the highest mean increase (3.41) between the pre-test (M = 7.09, SD = 4.68) and post-test (M = 10.50, SD = 3.26). Induction saw the lowest increase from pre-test (M = 14.96, SD = 3.44) to post-test (M = 15.42, SD = 2.53) for a total difference of .46. Inferential statistics were then used to determine if these mean differences were statistically significant. To determine the type of inferential test that was appropriate for the data, a Shapiro-Wilk test was performed on each data set to determine if the scores were normally distributed.

	Pre-Test		Post-7	Test
Subscale	М	SD	М	SD
Induction	14.96	3.44	15.42	2.53
Observation	10.56	4.47	12.23	3.24
Deduction	7.09	4.68	10.50	3.26
Assumption	2.69	2.50	4.20	2.32
Total	35.29	12.40	42.13	7.79

Descriptive Statistics for Cornell Critical Thinking Test (n = 45)

Shapiro-Wilk test. The Shapiro-Wilk test was performed on the pre-test and post-test total scores and the scores for each subscale to determine if data were normally distributed. Data sets with *p*-values above .05 indicate a normal distribution while data sets with values below .05 are not normally distributed (Adams & Lawrence, 2019). Based on these results, the type of inferential test was determined. Normally distributed data were analyzed using a paired sample *t*-test while data sets that were not normally distributed were analyzed using a Wilcoxon signed rank test. Table 4.3 displays the results of each test and the corresponding inferential test used. Based on these results, Total, Induction and Assumption were normally distributed and were analyzed using a wilcoxon signed rank test.

	Shapiro-Wilk			
Subscale	W	df	p	Inferential Analysis Used
Induction	0.97	45	0.27	Paired sample <i>t</i> -test
Observation	0.97	45	0.04	Wilcoxon signed rank test
Deduction	0.95	45	0.03	Wilcoxon signed rank test
Assumption	0.94	45	0.27	Paired sample <i>t</i> -test
Total	0.97	45	0.40	Paired sample <i>t</i> -test

Shapiro-Wilk Results for Cornell Critical Thinking Test

Note: *p* <.05 indicates abnormal distribution

Paired sample *t***-test.** Paired sample *t*-tests were conducted to determine if there was a statistically significant change between the pre-test and the post-test in the total scores and scores for Induction and Assumption. A paired sample *t*-test reports the likelihood that that difference between two tests taken by the same sample group is due to chance (Adams & Lawrence, 2019). Cohen's *d* was calculated to determine the effect size. Table 4.4 displays the results of the paired *t*-test for each of the previously mentioned normally distributed data sets. The results of the paired sample *t*-test on the Total test score indicated a significant change from the pre-test (M = 35.29, SD = 2.50) to the post-test (M = 42.54, SD = 7.78), t(44) = 3.76, p < .001, d = 0.56. In addition, the subscale of Assumption resulted in a significant change from the pre-test (M = 2.69, SD = 2.50) to the post-test (M = 4.31, SD = 2.33), t(44) = 3.32, p < .001, d = .50. Scores on the subscale of Induction did not result in a significant change between the pre-test (M = 14.96, SD = 3.44) and the post-test (M = 15.50, SD = 2.48), t (44) = .077, p = 0.44, d = .12.

	Pre-7	Pre-Test Post-Test						
Subscale	М	SD	М	SD	t	df	р	d
Induction	14.96	3.44	15.50	2.48	0.77	44	0.44	.12
Assumption	2.69	2.50	4.31	2.33	3.32	44	<.001	.50
Total	35.29	2.50	42.54	7.78	3.76	44	<.001	.56

Paired Sample t-test Results for Cornell Critical Thinking Test (n = 45)

Wilcoxon signed-rank test. The subscales that were not normally distributed were analyzed using the Wilcoxon signed-rank test, a test used to compare the difference between non-parametric data without the assumption of normality (Adams & Lawrence, 2019). The test was performed on the subscales of Observation and Induction. As with a paired *t*-test, the Wilcoxon signed-rank test measures the likelihood that the differences between the two tests is due to chance alone. Statistically significant results occur when the resulting *p*-value from the Wilcoxon signed-rank test is .05 or less. In addition, the effect size of the intervention was determined by using the rank-biserial correlation analysis which is represented by *r*.

Results from the Wilcoxon signed-rank test on subscale of Observation indicated a significant change between the pre-test (Mdn = 11.00, SD=4.47) and the post-test (Mdn= 13.00, SD = 3.28), z = -2.05, p = 0.04, r = -0.38. Deduction also indicated a significant change between pre-test (Mdn = 11.00, SD = 4.47) and the post-test (Mdn = 9.00, SD =4.68), z = -3.94, p < .001, r = -.072. Table 4.5 displays the results of each of the Wilcoxon signed-rank tests that were performed.

	Pre-T	est	Post-Test				
Subscale	Mdn	SD	Mdn	SD	Ζ	р	r
Observation	11.00	4.47	13.00	3.28	-2.05	0.04	-0.38
Deduction	9.00	4.68	11.00	3.33	-3.94	<.001	-0.72

Wilcoxon Signed-Rank Results for Cornell Critical Thinking Test (n = 45)

Discussion Post Rubric Scores

Each student's initial post from week 1, week 3, and week 5 were scored using The Holistic Critical Thinking Scoring Rubric (see Appendix A). Each discussion post could receive a maximum score of 4 and a minimum score of 1, depending on how well the post fulfilled the requirements of the rubric. Each post was scored by two separate graders, and the average of the two scores was used as the overall score. The researcher served as one of the graders and the other grader was an experienced English teacher who is also a certified Advanced Placement test scorer. To ensure reliable scoring, all scores from both graders were analyzed for intraclass correlation, which is a measurement of agreement between each rater's score (Adams & Lawrence, 2019). Results from this test showed that the raters had an interclass correlation of .86. According to Fleiss et al. (2003), values above .75 are considered to have acceptable reliability. Descriptive statistics were then evaluated to begin the data analysis process.

Descriptive statistics. Each student's score was determined by averaging both rater's rubric score for each student's post. All scores for each week were summed up to generate a weekly mean score. Table 4.6 displays the descriptive statistics of students' scores for discussion forum posts, including each weekly mean and the standard deviation. Week 5 had the highest overall mean (M = 3.07, SD = .77) and had the highest

growth between measured weeks. Mean weekly rubric scores also increased from Week 1 (M = 2.21, SD = .79) to Week 3 (M = 2.38, SD = .71). These statistics indicate that student critical thinking skills improved each week as measured by the rubric. To determine if a statistically significant difference existed across the three time points, a repeated measures ANOVA was used (Adams & Lawrence, 2018). Hays (1988) indicates that when the number of observations is greater than 30, the sample means will be approximately normally distributed. Therefore, the repeated measure ANOVA was determined to be appropriate for this study.

Table 4.6

Descriptive Statistics for Student Rubric Scores (n = 46)

	Μ	SD	
Week 1	2.21	0.79	
Week 3	2.38	0.71	
Week 5	3.07	0.77	

Repeated measures ANOVA. The first step in conducting the ANOVA was to determine if there was sphericity in variances between groups. Sphericity is the assumption that variances between groups are equal (Adams & Lawrence, 2019). To test this assumption, the Mauchly's Test of Sphericity was used. This measure tests the null hypothesis that variances between groups are equal. Therefore, statistically significant results (p < .05) indicate a violation of the null hypothesis and show that variances are not equal. Results from the tests conducted on rubric data indicate that the assumption of sphericity had not been violated, $\chi^2(2) = .95$, p = .35. Based on these results, it was determined that the variances between groups were equal and a spherically assumed repeated measures ANOVA was conducted.

The repeated measure ANOVA was conducted to analyze the impact of the intervention on student discussions posts throughout the course of the study. As presented in Table 4.7, there was a statistically significant impact of the intervention on rubric scores, F(2, 45) = 10.09, p < .001. The Eta squared coefficient was used to determine the percentage of the variability that could be accounted for by the intervention (Adams & Lawrence, 2019). Results of this test ($\eta^2 = .26$) demonstrated a large effect size that accounted for 26.3% of the variance between groups.

Table 4.7ANOVA Results for Student Rubric Scores (n = 46)

	SS	df	MS	F	р	η^2
Between Groups	18.96	2	9.48	10.09	<.001	.26
Within Groups	25.65	45	0.57			
Total	44.61	47	10.05			

Because a significant difference was found in the repeated measure ANOVA, post hoc tests were conducted to find how each week differed from one another. These tests compare each group with every other group. Results were adjusted using Bonferroni's correction for multiple comparisons. According to Table 4.8, there was a statistically significant difference between Week 1 and 5, t(45) = 5.36, p < .001, and between Week 3 and 5, t(45) = 4.28, p < .001. No significant difference resulted between Week 1 and 3, t(45) = 1.86, p = 0.84. These results indicate that students began showing significant differences after the third week of the intervention and showed additional progress after five weeks. This suggests that time of exposure played a role in the intervention's impact, indicating that the longer a student was exposed, the greater the impact on their critical thinking.

Table 4.8

Post Hoc Results for Student Rubric Scores

		M_D	SE	t	d	р
Week 1	Week 3	-0.17	0.16	1.09	0.16	0.84
Week 1	Week 5	-0.86	0.16	5.36	0.79	<.001
Week 3	Week 5	-0.69	0.16	4.28	0.63	<.001

Note. *p* values adjusted for multiple comparisons: Bonferroni.

Student Survey

Students completed the survey after the conclusion of the intervention. This survey measured student perceptions of how they perceived the intervention to impact their critical thinking skills. It was administered to students in class and was completed during a single class period (n=43). Several students had to complete the survey on a different date who were absent for the original administration. The survey contained 17 items which were divided into 5 subscales: (1) cognition, (2) affection, (3) reading and writing skills, (4) critical thinking skills, and (5) efficacy. All items were 5-point Likert-style statements that asked students to rate their level of agreement with 5 indicating "Strongly Agree" and 1 indicating "Strongly Disagree." (See Appendix C).

Table 4.9

Cronbach's Alpha Results for Student Survey

Subscale	α
Cognition (1-5)	0.85
Affection (6-10)	0.35
Reading and Writing Skills (11-12)	0.73
Critical Thinking Skills (12-14)	0.75

Efficacy (15-17)	0.83
Total	0.88

Reliability for this instrument was established by calculating internal consistency using Cronbach's alpha, which determines the correlation between items within the same subscale (Adams & Lawrence, 2019). Alpha values above .70 ($\alpha > .70$) are considered to have acceptable reliability and are interpreted as internally consistent (Gliem & Gliem, 2003). Table 4.9 displays the results of each alpha measurement. As a whole, the survey achieved acceptable levels of internal consistency ($\alpha = 0.88$). Four of the five subscales also had acceptable internal consistency. Affection was the lone subscale that failed to reach an acceptable standard ($\alpha = 0.35$). This will be discussed later as a limitation of the study.

Descriptive statistics. Data from the survey were first analyzed using descriptive statistics. The mean and standard deviation was calculated for each question and for each subscale. Table 4.10 displays the results of these tests for each item and subscale. All subscale means fell between 3.92 and 3.34, indicating that student most student responses fell between the levels of "Neither Agree nor Disagree" and "Agree." The subscale with the highest mean score was Critical Thinking Skills (M = 3.92, SD = 0.09) indicating students had the highest level of agreement with items within this subscale. Affection had both the lowest mean score as well as the highest standard deviation, which indicates the most variability among responses (M = 3.34, SD = 1.07); however, these results still show moderate levels of agreement. Among individual items, Item 14 (*Online discussions improve my ability to look at issues from different perspectives*) had a high level of agreement (M = 3.93, SD = 1.00). Within the same subscale, Item 13 (*Online*

discussions improve my critical thinking skills) had the second highest level (M = 3.91,

SD = .86). Item 8 (*Online discussions are boring*) had the lowest level of agreement and the highest standard deviation (M = 3.16, SD = 1.16).

Table 4.10

Descriptive Statistics for Student Survey (n = 44)

Subscale	Question	М	SD
Cognition	1	3.61	0.94
	2	3.64	0.91
	3	3.55	1.01
	4	3.57	1.07
	5	3.50	1.15
	Subscale Total	3.57	1.01
Affection	6	3.23	1.01
	7	3.36	1.10
	8	3.16	1.16
	9	3.66	0.91
	10	3.37	1.14
	Subscale Total	3.34	1.07
Reading and Writing Skills	11	3.77	1.01
	12	3.75	0.94
	Subscale Total	3.76	0.97
Critical Thinking Skills	13	3.91	0.86
	14	3.93	1.00
	Subscale Total	3.92	0.93
Efficacy	15	3.66	1.01
	16	3.66	1.06
	17	3.93	0.90
	Subscale Total	3.75	0.99

In summary, pre- and post-test data from the Cornell Critical Thinking Test was analyzed using a paired sample *t*-test or a Wilcoxon signed-rank test based on normality results from the Shapiro-Wilk test. Results from these tests indicated a significant difference between the pre-test and post-test in total score and the subscales of Assumption, Observation, and Deduction. Discussion post rubric scores were analyzed using a repeated measures ANOVA. Results of this test indicated a significant difference from the repeated measures. Post hoc tests revealed no significant change between Week 1 and Week 3 of the intervention; however, there was a significant difference between Week 1 and Week 5 as well as Week 3 and Week 5. Finally, descriptive statistics were used to analyze the data gathered from the student survey. Results of these tests showed that the subscale of Critical Thinking Skills had the highest mean score, and students reported the highest levels of agreement with Item 14 (*Online discussions improve my ability to look at issues from difference perspectives*) and Item 13 (*Online discussions improve my critical thinking skills*).

Qualitative Findings & Interpretations

Qualitative data for this study were collected through four focus group interviews. This data was used to address both research questions. These interviews allowed me to gain further insight into student experiences within online discussions and generate themes which emerge from these experiences. The following section will describe the data analysis process and explain how themes were generated. It will begin with a description of participant selection, followed by a description of the data analysis process, and conclude with the presentation of findings.

Participant Selection

All participants within the study had the opportunity to volunteer to take part in the focus group interviews. To volunteer, participants were required to be members of my English 1 class and have completed the entire asynchronous discussion unit. Participants were asked to provide their honest opinions of the unit regardless if these opinions were positive or negative. A total of 16 participants volunteered to take part in

the interviews (11 females and 5 males). All Participants were in ninth grade and between the ages of 14 and 16. Class grades of the participants ranged from a 96% to 73%. In total, five participants had A's, eight participants had B's, and three participants had C's. There was no grade requirement for participation in the interviews, and no individual that met the participation requirements was denied the opportunity to take part in the interview. Table 4.11 displays demographic information about the participants of the focus group interviews. Pre-Assessment range was determined based on student scores on their first attempt on the Cornell Critical Thinking Test. Scores were compared to the testing norms described in Ennis, Millman, and Tomko (2005). Students who scored in the 35th percentile or below were considered Low (n = 9), students who scored between the 36th and 65th percentile were considered Medium (n = 31), and students who scored in the 66th percentile and above were considered High (n = 6). Students were assigned to groups based on their availably to participate in the interviews. Each interview was composed of four students.

Table 4.11

Pseudonym	Gender	Ethnicity	Pre-Assessment	Group
			Range	
Linda	Female	White	Low	1
Jason	Male	African American	Medium	1
Sarah	Female	Asian	Medium	1
Nancy	Female	White	Low	1
Alice	Female	White	High	2
Jenny	Female	Hispanic	Low	2
Timothy	Male	White	Medium	2
Lauren	Female	White	Medium	2
Anna	Female	African American	Medium	3
Kevin	Male	African American	Low	3
Thomas	Male	Asian	Low	3
Denise	Female	White	Medium	3

Participant Demographics

Pseudonym	Gender	Ethnicity	Pre-Assessment	Group
			Range	
Lucy	Female	White	Low	4
Jeffery	Male	African American	High	4
Donna	Female	Asian	Medium	4
Emma	Female	African American	Medium	4

Analysis of qualitative data

Qualitative data was generated from four separate focus group interviews. Interview data was collected using Audacity and transcribed using Microsoft Word's voice-to-text plugin, Dictate. The transcripts generated by Dictate were compared to the original recordings and edited to ensure the accuracy of the transcription. Once the accuracy of the transcripts was confirmed, they were uploaded into Delve as separate files for first-cycle coding.

Inductive analysis was used to code, categorize, and generate emergent themes from the data (Mertler, 2017). Data was analyzed by reviewing the interview transcripts and assigning codes to information related to the study. According to Saldana (2021), a code is "a short word or phrase that symbolically assigns a summative, salient, essencecapturing, and/or evocative attribute for a portion of language-based or visual data" (p. 5). The purpose of these codes is to look for common characteristics from which statements can be made to connect the participant experiences (Creswell, 2014). Table 4.12 displays the number of codes that were generated from each focus group.

Source	1 st Cycle Codes	2 nd Cycle Codes	Total
Focus Group 1	74	52	126
Focus Group 2	70	50	120
Focus Group 3	47	39	86
Focus Group 4	39	36	75
Combined Total	230	177	407

Summary of Codes Generated

Two cycles of coding were conducted to analyze the focus group interviews. The first cycle utilized two rounds of coding: in vivo, and values coding (Saldana, 2021). The second cycle utilized two rounds of pattern coding to organize data into similarly coded categories (Saldana, 2021). These categories were then used to elicit emergent themes. Throughout this process, a researcher's journal was maintained using analytic memos to document my thoughts, questions, and ideas about the data. The following sections will provide a detailed description of my first-cycle and second-cycle coding process.

First-cycle coding. All first-cycle methods were conducted using the qualitative coding tool, Delve (https://delvetool.com) to organize data and apply codes to meaningful units of text. Two rounds of coding were conducted for the first cycle, using a different method for each round. The first round utilized in vivo coding and the second round employed values coding. Within Delve, a separate project was created for each round of coding to most efficiently analyze the data gleaned from each round. First-cycle methods

were selected based on their connection to the research question and their ability to generate meaningful data.

In vivo coding. In vivo coding was used for the initial round of transcript coding. This method "uses words or short phrases from the participant's own language in that data record as codes" (Saldana, 2021, p. 365). One of the benefits of this method is that it honors the voice of the participants and captures their experiences and perceptions in their own words (Mertler, 2017). Each focus group transcript was organized into a separate file in Delve. Transcripts were coded separately then codes were compared after all four transcripts were coded. Codes were assigned to meaningful units of text and quotation marks were used to indicate that these codes were the participant's exact words (Saldana, 2021). For longer sentences with more details, several codes were assigned to exhibit the full meaning of the text. For example, in Figure 4.1 the second sentence contained several meaningful units and was coded as "able to really take a deep dive into information" and "describe to my kind of opponent and what I mean by it." Each code expressed a different idea; therefore, it was important to capture the layers of meaning with multiple codes. The first round of in vivo coding resulted in 230 separate codes.



Figure 4.1. In vivo coding in Delve

Values coding. In the second round, values coding was used to analyze the transcripts. This method was selected because it aims to capture the participants' values, attitudes, and beliefs about their experiences (Saldana, 2021). This method allowed me to gather evidence of how participants valued asynchronous discussions and how they believed it impacted their critical thinking. Saldana's (2021) definition of the values, attitudes, beliefs was used to clearly distinguish the three terms from one another: "A value is what you think/feel is important. An attitude is how you think/feel about something or someone. And a belief is what you personally think/feel to be true" (p. 168). Codes were labeled with a V, A, or B to show which of the three terms to which the code was connected. For example, in Figure 4.2 the first sentence is coded "V: seeing different perspectives" because the individual is stating that it is important to hear multiple perspectives, including the perspective of those that are often reluctant to speak in person. The second sentence was coded as "A: online debates help eliminate anxiety

of speaking" because the participant was expressing his/her attitude that speaking can cause anxiety and a virtual environment could alleviate this anxiety for some individuals. Finally, the last sentence was coded as "B: discussion improved communication skills" because the statement reflected the individual's belief that engaging in discussions can improve one's ability to effectively communicate with others. In this round, some codes were used multiple times, for example "V: treating others with respect" was used seven times. As performed in the first round, transcripts were analyzed one at a time and codes were assigned to meaningful units of text. This round resulted in 177 values codes.

I think it could really help people who don't often state their opinions like					
in personthey can state their opinion via this debate. They can					
liketype out what they're saying and not have the anxiety of speaking in					
front of a crowd. That can help people state their opinions and stuff like					
that.					
A: online debates help eliminate anxiety of speaking					
B: discussions improved communication skills V: seeing different perspectives					

Figure 4.2. Values coding in Delve

Peer debriefing. After each round of coding, my dissertation chair and I reviewed all of my codes to ensure that they accurately portrayed the data and captured the necessary information. During the review process, he questioned the meaning behind some of the codes, asked for clarifications, and made suggestions to improve the quality of the study. For example, when reviewing in vivo codes, we discussed how more meaningful data could be extracted by analyzing the transcript by meaningful units rather than by sentence. This allowed me to greatly expand my data collection and more

accurately portray participant perceptions. During our second round of debriefing, we had an extended discussion about the distinctions between attitudes, values, and beliefs. In addition, he questioned several codes and asked me to explain why I placed them in the category that I did. For example, we discussed how "A: it is important for both partners to fully participate" seemed more like a statement of value rather than an attitude. We both agreed that it was best to change this code to a value. This process was repeated for several other codes to ensure that they were categorized correctly and that they represented the statements of the participants.

Transition to second-cycle coding. After the first-cycle coding was complete, all codes were downloaded from Delve into a Microsoft Excel document. All codes from the first round of in vivo coding were combined and all codes from the second round of value coding were combined. Next, I began looking at the data to identify initial categories that could help guide my second-cycle coding process. Related codes were grouped together and given categories reflecting their unifying idea. Figure 4.3 displays an example of how the codes were organized. From this initial categorization process, ten categories were generated: (1) Gathering Information, (2) Evaluating Information and Adjusting, (3) Connecting and Interacting with Peers, (4) Structure of Debates, (5) Encouraging Participation, (6) Perceptions of Debates, (7) Writing Skills, (8) Critical Thinking, (9) Understanding and Using Rhetorical Concepts, and (10) Looking at Different Perspectives. These initial categories allowed me to begin analyzing data and reflecting on the experiences of participants as I transitioned to the second cycle of coding.

A	В	С	D
Round 1 In Vivo (230 codes)	Round 2 Values (178 codes)	Category 1: Gathering Information	Category 2: Evaluating Information and Adjusting
"able to really take a deep dive into	A: being absent on debate days made it		
information"	hard to catch up	"debates, gathering information, citing sources"	"have to take a deeper look"
"describe to my, kind of, opponent what	A: could tell how much argumentative		
I mean"	position was enjoyed by other people	"I have a lot of information"	"able to really take a deep dive into information"
	A: debate forces students to "take a	able to gather stronger evidence towards our	
"I have a lot of information"	deeper look" into topics	opponents"	"information isn't false or made up"
	A: debate forces students to "take a		
"I am able to tell them what I mean"	deeper look" into topics	"helps to educate yourself on one topic"	"deeper look into a lot of our arguments"
	A: debate forces students to "take a		
"information isn't false or made up"	deeper look" into topics	"it was informative"	"if you rushed it then our quality was crap"
"it is a has been a little easier to debate	A: debate forces students to "take a		
this way"	deeper look" into topics	"I am about to use that to respond"	"I understand it a bit more"
"I would recommend it for any other	A: debate forces students to "take a		
teacher"	deeper look" into topics	"come up with solid evidence"	"I know what to be looking for now"
	A: debate forces students to "take a		
"digital learning has been easier"	deeper look" into topics	"difficult to find information"	"it made me dig deeper"
"able to gather stronger evidence	A: debate forces students to "take a		"focus on how your decisions could either help or hurt the
towards our opponents"	deeper look" into topics	"challenging to find the exact informtion"	other person"
"we were able to create strong written	A: debate forces students to "take a		
conversation"	deeper look" into topics	"we were restricted to websites"	"take more time and plan or battle and make it even harder"
"we made strong points that changed	A: debate forces students to "take a		
people's original opinions"	deeper look" into topics	"some topics didn't have much information"	"learning how to make sure I didn't make their mistakes"
	A: debate forces students to "take a	"hard to pick and choose website to find	
"I would very much recommend it"	deeper look" into topics	information"	B: original opinions were changed
online debates were pretty no difficult	A: debate forces students to "take a	"difficulties with trying to find evidence to back it	A: debate forces students to "take a deeper look" into topics
but still challenging"	deeper look" into topics	up"	(18)

Figure 4.3: Transition to second-cycle initial categories

Second-cycle methods. Two rounds of pattern coding were used as the secondcycle method of coding. This method organizes data into categories which reflect similar themes and ideas (Saldana, 2021). The codes generated from first-cycle coding in Delve were uploaded into a Microsoft Excel document. All in vivo codes were placed into one column, and the values codes were placed in the next column. I began the process by first reading through the codes several times looking for patterns and related data. Next, I began to group codes that were related together by placing them within the same column in Excel. This process was repeated until all codes had been placed into a group that reflected a common idea. For example, the codes "*helped me use logos more strategically*" and "*able to branch out and explore using logos*" were combined with other codes into the category "Use of Rhetorical Strategies." Figure 4.4 displays an example of four patterns that emerged from the data with the resulting pattern code. After finishing this initial pattern coding process, I met with my dissertation advisor to review

Improving understanding of rhetorical concepts	Challenge of understanding and using rhetoric	Value of using rhetoric
"got a deeper		
understanding of the		"emotion, it could
rhetoric we were	"didn't have a good	persuade your
using"	past with rhetoric"	argument"
"helped me understand	"logos is kind of	"help with your
more pathos"	difficult"	arguments"
"I understand it a bit	"easier to find pathos and ethos to state your	"I did understand those threerhetoricsand it made my argument a
more"	claim"	lot better"
"let me understand	"emotional appeal	"can make your
logos"	was the easiest"	argument stronger"
	Improving understanding of rhetorical concepts "got a deeper understanding of the rhetoric we were using" "helped me understand more pathos" "I understand it a bit more" "let me understand logos"	Improving understanding of rhetorical concepts Challenge of understanding and using rhetoric "got a deeper understanding of the rhetoric we were "didn't have a good past with rhetoric" "helped me understand more pathos" "logos is kind of difficult" "I understand it a bit more" "easier to find pathos and ethos to state your claim" "let me understand logos" "emotional appeal really cause I think it was the easiest"

the patterns that I generated to ensure the pattern codes accurately reflected the information they represented. The first stage resulted in 32 pattern codes.

Figure 4.4: First stage of pattern coding

After the first round of pattern coding, codes were placed into groups that shared a common idea. Once these groups were made, they were categorized once again to reflect the idea that connected the grouped information. For example, the pattern codes *Using writing to express opinions, Use of writing strategies,* and *Improving writing skills* were combined to create the category "Developing writing skills through practice." Figure 4.5 displays how these pattern codes were grouped and the category that resulted from this grouping. Once my categories were created, I met with my dissertation advisor and explained my rational for each category. The emphasis of this meeting was making sure each category represented the specific information covered by the category description. I explained my rationale for each category, and we discussed if they were clearly worded and representative of the data. Based on this discussion, the wording of some categories was changed. For example, we decided that the category *Developing and Applying Writing* was unclear and decided to change it to *Developing Writing Skills Through Practice*. This round of coding resulted in nine categories: (1) Gathering and examining information, (2) Developing writing skills through practice, (3) Interacting with peers, (4) Perceptions of debates, (5) Seeing and being open to different perspectives, (6) Understanding and using rhetorical concepts, (7) Impact on critical thinking skills, (8) Perceptions of debate structure, and (9) Learning from interactions.

Category 2:			
Developing writing	Using writing to	Use of writing	
skills through practice	express opinions	Strategies	Improving writing skills
	"describe to my, kind		
	of, opponent what I		"helped me be more
	mean"	V: peer editing	articulate"
	"I am able to tell them	B: important not to	"helps communication-
	what I mean"	rush	wise"
			"I started fixing my
		B: writing more allows	problems and making
	V: describing	more thorough answer	it better"
		"careful with your	
	"help people state their	words and not sound	"got better the more
	opinions"	offensive"	you did it"

Figure 4.5: Categorizing pattern codes

The final round of the pattern coding process consisted of analyzing categories to find emergent themes. I reviewed my categories as well as my researcher's journal on multiple occasions in order to provide ample time to reflect on my data. Categories that represented similar ideas were combined and a unifying theme was generated that described the connection between categories. For example, the categories *Developing*

writing skills through practice and *Understanding and using rhetorical concepts* were combined because they connected to the concept of making improvements in writing, which resulted in a theme of the study. Below each category, the pattern codes were placed that were encompassed by that category. This process was repeated until all categories were grouped. All themes were composed of at least two categories and one theme contained three. Figure 4.6 provides an example of how two categories were combined to create a theme. This organization process was used to guide the entire theme generation process.

Theme 4			
Debates positively impacted student ability to create written augments.			
Category 2: Developing	Category 6:		
writing skills through	Understanding and Using		
practice	Rhetorical Concepts (39)		
Using writing to express	Use of rhetorical		
opinions	strategies		
Use of Writing Strategies	Improving understanding of rhetorical concepts		
Improving writing skills	Challenge of understanding and using rhetoric		
	Value of using rhetoric		

Figure 4.6: Grouping categories to form a theme

In conclusion, the qualitative data analysis resulted in four themes and nine categories. To ensure that these findings accurately reflected the experiences of the participants, member checking was conducted with each participant of the focus groups. Member checking is the process of sharing data with stakeholding groups to verify the accuracy of findings (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). A short individual meeting was conducted

with each participant to discuss the themes generated from the study. In this meeting, participants were given a list and description of each theme. They were given the opportunity to ask questions and provide feedback about the findings of the study. All participants agreed that the findings accurately portrayed their experiences during the intervention. These findings will be described in the section below.

Presentation of Findings

Four themes were generated from the focus group interviews. Table 4.12 displays each of the themes along the categories, pattern codes, and examples of first-cycle codes from which the themes were derived. For example, first-cycle coding generated the in vivo code "helped me look for details" and the values code A: debates encourage students to "take a deeper look" into topics. These codes were combined with others reflecting a similar idea into the pattern code Closely Examining Information, which describes how students closely examined information from the debates for important details. This was combined with the pattern code, *Gathering Sources*, to form the category Gathering and Examining Information. The category describes how students believed that debates encouraged them to find sources for their debates and closely examine them for important information related to their topic. This was then combined with the category, Seeing and Being Open to Different Perspectives since both categories related to different dimensions of engaging in critical thinking (Facione, 1990). The resulting theme from these two categories was "Online debates engaged students in multiple dimensions of critical thinking." In the following section, each theme and category will be presented using thick, rich descriptions utilizing verbatim quotes from

focus group interviews (Creswell, 2014). To maintain confidentiality, participants will be referred to with pseudonyms and no identifying information will be provided.

Table 4.12

Themes Derived from Data Analysis

Themes	Categories	Pattern Codes	First-Cycle Codes
Students had positive perceptions of the debate experience.	Perceptions of Debate Structure	Importance of both partners contribution	B: partner groups played an important role in success of debate
		Debate topics	"the topic made a big deal"
		Amount of time given	"didn't give us enough time like right away"
		Online vs. face-to- face discussion	A: Easier to debate online (2)
		Removing barriers of class participation	"help people who don't often state their opinions, like, in person"
		Challenge of finding information	A: limited resources made it difficult to find information
	Perceptions of Debates	Recommend for future use	"recommend it for any other teacher to use in class"
		Overall impressions of debate experience	"good experience"
		Enjoyment	"kinda fun to kind of have that argument back and forth"

Themes	Categories	Pattern Codes	First-Cycle Codes
Students learned from peer interactions within	Interacting with peers	Communicating with peers	"able to connect with people and have arguments"
the online debates		Comfortable and respectful environment	"family environment"
		Negative peer interactions	"sometimes it got hard because of judgement of others"
		Positive Peer Interactions	"the interactionsI enjoyed them a lot"
	Learning from peer interactions	Learning from peer mistakes	"learning how to make sure I didn't make their mistakes"
		Understanding the impact of words	"focus on how your words could either help or hurt the other person"
		Evaluating peer discussion posts	
Online debates engaged students in multiple dimensions of critical thinking	Gathering and examining	Closely examining information	"helped me look for details"
	mormation	Gathering sources "able to gather stronger evid towards our opponents"	"able to gather stronger evidence towards our opponents"
	Seeing and being open to different perspectives	Seeing classmates' perspectives	"helped me understand other people's sides of the issue"

Themes	Categories	Pattern Codes	First-Cycle Codes
		Looking at debate topics from different perspectives	"helps me look at issues from different perspectives"
		Open to new ideas	"more open and accepting to new ideas"
	Impact on Critical Thinking	Perceived impact on critical thinking	"online debates helped me improve critical thinking skill a lot better"
		Value of critical thinking	"critical thinking was very useful in helping me"
Debates positively impacted students' ability to create written arguments	Developing writing skills through practice	Using writing to express opinions	"describe to my, kind of, opponent what I mean"
written arguments		Use of writing strategies	"you really have to go into detail"
		Improving writing skills	"helped me be more articulate"
	Understanding and using rhetorical concepts	Use of rhetorical strategies	"I use a lot of statistics, that actually works"
		Improving understanding of rhetorical concepts	"got a deeper understanding of the rhetoric we were using"
		Challenge of using rhetoric	A: understanding rhetoric is difficult
		Value of using rhetoric	"I did understand those three rhetoricsand it made my argument a lot better"

Theme 1: Students had positive perceptions of the debate experience.

Students reported positive perceptions of the way the debates were structured, and they believed that it was an enjoyable experience that they would recommend to others for future use. Structure refers to all of the design elements that were organized to create the debates for students. Examples of these structural elements include debate topics, amount of time given, and grouping. This theme emerged as students discussed their feelings about the structure of the debates and their overall experience engaging in the intervention. This theme is composed of two categories: (1) Perceptions of debate structure and (2) Perceptions of debates.

Perceptions of debate structure. This category reflects how students viewed the design of the intervention and their perceptions of the components that created the debate experience. Participants noted that there were certain elements of the debate structure that had a large impact on their experience. For example, the importance of each partner's contribution was cited as vital to the success of the debates. Many participants believed that partner groups played an important role in the quality of their experience. For example, Sarah stated: "It just kind of depends on who your partner is and…kind of…if you talk to that person." One of the positive aspects of grouping for Sarah was the creation of a competitive atmosphere that she enjoyed:

It also kind of gave you some competition but like in a good way because it is always fun with people that you know. And then there are people in the class who are fun to argue with because they don't really give you a point to argue. However, when Nancy was grouped with an individual that was not contributing properly, she felt as though it hurt her motivation and said:

Sometimes it was hard because you're going hard and you're doing all of this, and your partner isn't. It kind of makes you think, what's the point?

Despite, sometimes being disappointed by the efforts of their classmates, students felt comfortable interacting in an online setting, especially when compared to face-to-face interaction. Alice stated:

I think that...like...we all did a good job at getting along or at baseline being mature. We were respectful enough to be able to get along as a class. It feels comfortable. I felt safe talking to people.

Students felt that it was easier to debate online than face-to-face, which improved the quality of their experience and helped them interact with their classmates.

Students also noted that the topics played an important role. According to Linda, a lot of her enjoyment of the debate "depended on the topic and what we were talking about." Jason added that "if we went to more complex topics, I would have more thoroughly enjoyed it, but, nevertheless, I still enjoyed it."

Although most students had positive opinions about the structure of the debates, some felt that the amount of time they were given was not adequate to construct wellthought-out responses. This was especially true in the beginning when students were new to the process and required more time to plan their discussion contributions. Lauren stated that "you didn't give us enough time, especially in the beginning." Adding to this early struggle was the fact that it was often challenging to find information. School network restrictions only allowed students access to certain websites. Some students found this frustrating and thought that it made it more difficult to find reliable information to support their arguments. Despite this struggle, students felt that they

improved throughout the intervention and developed strategies to access reliable information about their topics.

In addition, students felt that engaging in these debates online helped to remove some of their barriers to class participation (e.g., anxiety caused by public speaking). Jenny added that the online environment helped take away some of the anxiety that she sometimes felt when speaking in front of crowds: "They can…like…type out what they're saying and not have the anxiety of speaking in front of a crowd." This removed some of the traditional barriers that prevented students from interacting with their peers. As a result, the online format resulted in more students contributing their opinions to the debates and more perspectives being heard by the class.

Perceptions of debates. This category encompasses student perceptions about their overall experience within the intervention. As opposed to the previous category, which focuses on student impressions of the structure of the debates, this category is comprised of student opinions about their overall experience, value, and enjoyment. Overall, students felt they had a good experience within the online debates and would recommend using them in the future. Timothy summed up the opinions of most of his classmates when he said, "My experience....it was pretty fun." Jason had a similar experience: "So…like…online discussions…I found them really enjoyable." Students appreciated the opportunity to interact with each other on a more personal level then they were used to. Sarah noted that it was "kinda fun to have that argument back and forth between you and your partner." In addition, many students stated that they would recommend this experience to be used in other classrooms. For example, Jenny stated

that "I would recommend it for any other teacher to use in class," and Lauren expressed a similar opinion: "I think it is something that should be included in every class."

Theme 2: Students learned from peer interactions within the online debates. students believed that in addition to learning from instructor feedback and research, they also learned from their peer interactions within the debates. The literature states the incorporating social interactions into instruction is an effective strategy to promote learning (Jonassen et al., 1995). Asynchronous online discussion has been shown to be an effective method of encouraging these social interactions (Yang et al., 2005). Students learned as they evaluated their opponents' arguments in debates and used these arguments as models to help improve their future debate performance. This theme is composed of two categories: (1) Interacting with peers, and (2) Learning from interactions.

Interacting with peers. Peer interaction was a major component of this study. This category was generated as students described their perceptions of these experiences. Overall, students had a favorable impression of their interactions and felt that they were successful in communicating with their peers. According to Lauren, they were "able to connect with people and have arguments." Jason stated that "I feel like with my peers I was able to communicate more, and I really thought that we kind of almost had a family environment." Jenny agreed that she felt a closer bond with her classmates and stated that "I think that we were able to connect more as a group. To have a common understanding of one topic from both sides." The online peer interactions allowed students to listen more closely to what was being said without the worry of being interrupted or distracted. Anna stated that it was nice to "take a breather and listen to my

opponents." In addition, it was important to students that a comfortable and respectful environment was established. Kevin described this feeling when he said:

I believe that we all did a good job at getting along or, at baseline, being mature enough to...we were respectful enough to get along in the class. It feels comfortable. I felt safe talking to people.

Thomas expressed similar feelings of mutual respect:

I think everyone was pretty respectful throughout the discussions, so I think that by keeping the baseline respect, everybody was able to be a bit more

Although, some students did experience some negative peer interactions. There were some instances where students experienced negative judgement from their peers on their discussion contributions. Nancy felt that "sometimes it got hard because of judgment of others." However, most students felt that they had predominately positive peer interactions throughout the debates and felt that their peer interactions were enjoyable.

understanding of each other and more open and accepting to new ideas.

Learning from interactions. Within the constructivist approach, social interaction is seen as a vital component of the learning process (Jonassen, 1991). This category emerged as students described how they learned from their peer interactions within the debates. As students interacted within the debates, they were able to learn from each other's arguments, specifically each other's mistakes, to improve their own argumentative writing abilities. For example, Jason stated:

When they were analyzing my arguments and my counter arguments and how I went wrong...I learned from that. I really enjoyed that. I also had fun countering their arguments and learning how to make sure I didn't make their mistakes.

These peer interactions helped students learn to be better writers and better thinkers as they collaborated within the debates to explore the many different aspects of their topic. Students state that they from evaluating their peer's discussion. Many students believed that this evaluation process helped them learn to avoid mistakes within their own debate posts. For example, Denise noted that:

There were times when my classmates would rant on about a topic that wasn't even related to what we were talking about, and sometimes they would keep ranting on about things that weren't related at all.

Lucy shared a similar experience: "Some people wrote 800 or more words to a response instead of stating their opinion and that made their argument crappy...not quality." Students were also able identify when their peers used logical fallacies in their arguments such as targeting the character of the writer instead of the argument. Lauren noted that "I saw some others going after the writer and not their argument." Kevin had a similar experience, stating, "They made low jobs at my argument." However, as students evaluated each other's posts, they learned to use these models to improve themselves. Lauren noted that "it showed what not to do because some others weren't doing it right in their writing." Furthermore, students were able to understand the impact of their own words and understand how they could either help or hurt their argument. Sarah described how she learned from her interactions as she described how "online discussions helped me think about details, and the points that I was using, and what I was saying, which helped me make that point." Lauren added that "bouncing things back forth" helped her learn and become a better writer and arguer by carefully thinking about her word choice

and how these decisions could impact her overall argument. In general, students were able to collaboratively learn to be better writers, arguers, and critical thinkers.

Theme 3: Online debates engaged students in multiple dimensions of critical thinking. Critical thinking is characterized by multiple generalized thinking abilities (Facione, 1990). As students participated in the debates, they engaged in multiple dimensions of critical thinking which helped them successfully complete the process. Specifically, this theme reflects how students believed that they were encouraged to view information from multiple perspectives and engage in a divergent thinking process as they examined and analyzed multiple sources of information (Paul & Elder, 2012). This theme consists of three categories: (1) Gathering and examining information, (2) Seeing and being open to different perspectives and (3) Impact on critical thinking skills.

Gathering and examining information. An important part of the debate design was the requirement that students use reliable sources to support their arguments. Students engaged in a process of gathering and examining sources to use as evidence in their arguments. Darabi et al. (2011) found that students who used sources to support their arguments exhibited more frequent complex thoughts within debates. Likewise, students in this study noted that gathering sources and examining them for reliability helped them gain a better understanding of their topic and the issues surrounding it. Jenny felt that each week she gained a firm understanding of her debate topic by closely examining outside information because, according to her, "It really helps to educate yourself on your topic." Although most students acknowledged that using sources was important, some students expressed difficulties gathering the right information. Lauren felt the requirement of gathering outside sources created a challenge:
I had some difficulties with trying to find evidence to back up my argument instead of just using my own words. I mean there is nothing wrong with using your opinions, but when you are mandated to use online resources it's kind of harder.

Lauren did admit that "you got better the more you did it." Despite the added challenge, most students were able to see the benefit of using reliable sources in their writing. Jenny explained that examining the sources helped her choose the most reliable information: "I have a lot of information, and I am able to tell them what I mean, so they can go back and see that my information isn't false or made up." This process of examining information also included closely analyzing the arguments of opponents in the debate. Jeffery noted that "online discussions helped me look for details, and the points that they were using, and what they were saying and helped me make my point." Overall, this process of gathering and closely examining information encouraged students to critically think about the information they encountered in order to determine how best to utilize it within their debates.

Seeing and being open to different perspectives. The most frequently brought up subject within the focus group interviews was that debates helped participants look at issues from different perspectives. For students to be successful in the debates they had to understand both sides of the argument and anticipate their opponent's response. Donna stated:

It helped me look at both sides of the argument instead of just one side of the argument. So...it made me dig deeper to look at all the different points of view.

Like I am trying to defend this topic, but I kind of agree with this person because they do make some good points, and they do have reason for saying this.

Lucy added that "it definitely helped me understand how some people look at things differently from you." An added challenge to the debates was students were not always given a side of the argument that they agreed with, so there were times where they had to be open to new ideas and argue from a perspective that was not their own. This caused some participants to change their original opinions and think about issues in different ways. Nancy explained:

When you look at it from different perspectives you see there's always pros and cons...you know...to each thing. And you giving us topics made me look at stuff in a different way.

Clearly, students were given many things to critically think about as they experienced the process. Kevin felt that he was not given enough time to perform the necessary thinking to fully to advantage of the debates and said, "A longer period of time would have helped, but obviously no matter what, it's impossible to look at all the sides." However, students felt they improved each week of the intervention and were able to be more efficient with their time and were more prepared to consider the multiple perspectives of topic. Nancy stated that "it definitely helped me out...to think faster."

Impact on critical thinking skills. This category was created as students described how they perceived their critical thinking skills were impacted by the intervention. As students were placed into situations that required them to engage in different dimensions of critical thinking, they perceived that these skills were improved. Sarah believed, "Online debates helped me improve my critical thinking a lot better and

helped me learn from different sectors." Some students felt that this improvement was the result of being placed into a situation where they were required to utilize these skills. For example, Emma stated that "it impacts our critical thinking by making us use our brain." In addition to improving their critical thinking ability, students were also able to see the value in this skill. Nancy stated:

It definitely helped me out...to think faster if you know what I'm saying. It's like coming up with that argument and all that. I'm just looking at all the different issues that are things. I think the critical thinking was very useful in helping me. Overall, students believed that they improved their ability to critically think about issues and that these improvements had value to them, even outside the language arts classroom.

Theme 4: Debates positively impacted student ability to create written arguments. Theme 4 emerged as participants described how their argumentative skills improved over the course of the intervention. This theme is comprised of two components: understanding rhetorical concepts and developing writing skills. It is through the mastery of these two concepts that students developed the ability to craft well-developed written arguments, an essential ability in the language arts classroom and a 21st century skill (Pellegrino & Hilton, 2012). This theme reflects student beliefs that online debates improved their writing skills and that by engaging in these debates they were able to better understand and utilize argumentative concepts that had been discussed in class. This theme contains two categories: (1) developing writing skills through practice and (2) understanding and using rhetorical concepts.

Developing argumentative writing skills through practice. This category reflects student beliefs that the opportunity to practice argumentative writing within debates

helped them improve this skill, helping them use writing to express their opinions. Although students were provided with an introduction to argumentative writing as prior instruction to the intervention, some still did not feel confident in their ability. Kevin stated:

It wasn't the greatest at the beginning because everyone was...like...kind of new to it, so it was a very slow to start off, and then once we got into a rhythm, the arguments started getting good.

Kevin's point reflects the idea that students' ability to use writing to express opinions improved as they practiced their argumentative writing each week. Lauren noticed similar improvements in her writing each week, stating "I started fixing my problems and making my writing better." Students noted that as the intervention progressed, they learned to use strategies to improve their writing. Sarah admitted that in the beginning she did not take enough time in the writing process, and, as a result, her writing suffered: "If you rushed it, then your quality was crap." Thomas agreed adding that "you need to take more time to develop a battle plan." Some students also began peer-editing each other's arguments to improve the quality of their product. As students continued to gain more experience in writing and using strategies, they noticed an improvement in the quality of their product. Emma noted that the debates helped her "be more articulate in her writing." Timothy noticed that his classmates began to eliminate the logical mistakes from their writing and said, "We actually started to defend our points." Overall, students were able to communicate their ideas more effectively with writing as they continued to practice this skill over the course of the intervention.

Understanding and using rhetorical concepts. This category relates to the theme as it reflects how students felt they were better able understand and use rhetorical concepts as they progressed through the debates each week. The ability to identify and utilize these concepts can improve an individual's ability to write and think argumentatively (Aloni & Harrington, 2018). During instruction prior to the intervention, students were introduced to rhetorical concepts, including logos, ethos, pathos, and logical fallacies. Students were taught how to identify these concepts while reading and how to implement them into their writing to improve their arguments. Before engaging in the intervention, some students had found it challenging to grasp these concepts. For example, Kevin stated, "Personally, I didn't have a good past with rhetoric or any of the logical fallacies. I think that...like...a lot of people say using logos is kind of difficult, I guess." Despite the early difficulties, students began to feel more comfortable using rhetorical strategies as they experienced them within debates. Jason noted that as he gained more exposure, he "understood a lot more." Alice had a similar experience, adding:

We got a deeper understanding of the rhetoric we were using by getting it in our writing, and since it's the topic of things we worked on the past couple weeks, I think we got a better understanding.

Overall, students felt more equipped to engage in arguments and saw the value of incorporating rhetorical strategies into their writing. Lauren stated that "I did understand those three…rhetorics…and it made my argument a lot better."

Chapter Summary

This study utilized qualitative and quantitative data to examine the impact of integrating asynchronous online discussions into the high school language arts classroom. Quantitative data was collected from the Cornell Critical Thinking Test, discussion post rubric scores, and the student survey. Results of these instruments indicated significant impacts on student critical thinking skills. Qualitative data was collected through focus group interviews. Data analysis of these interviews resulted in four themes: (1) Students had positive perceptions of the debate experience, (2) Students learned from peer interactions within the online debates, (3) Online debates engaged students in multiple dimensions of critical thinking, and (4) Debates positively impacted students' ability to create written arguments. The integrated qualitative and quantitative findings of this study along with their implications will be discussed in Chapter 5.

CHAPTER 5

DISCUSSION, IMPLICATIONS, AND LIMITATIONS

This chapter will discuss the results of the study and position them as they relate to existing literature on critical thinking and asynchronous online discussions (ASD). The purpose of this action research was to evaluate the impact of asynchronous online discussions on the critical thinking skills of high school language arts students. Quantitative data was collected with three different methods: (1) The Cornell Critical Thinking Test (CCTT), (2) The Holistic Critical Thinking Scoring Rubric (HCTSSR), and (3) student survey results. Qualitative data was collected through focus group interviews with participants. Quantitative data indicated a significant increase in student critical thinking as well as positive perceptions of ASD on their critical thinking ability. Qualitative data resulted in four themes: (1) Students had positive perceptions of the debate experience, (2) Students learned from peer interactions within the online debates, (3) Online debates engaged students in multiple dimensions of critical thinking, and (4) Debates positively impacted students' ability to create written arguments. This chapter will include the following sections: (1) discussion, (2) implications, (3) limitations, and (4) conclusion.

Discussion

Qualitative and quantitative data was integrated to address each of the study's research questions. This allowed for a more complete understanding of the phenomena which took place within the intervention and provide the most accurate description of

how student critical thinking skills were impacted. The following sections will discuss how the findings of this study answer each of the research questions and will situate these findings within existing literature and theory.

Research Question 1: To what extent will the integration of asynchronous online discussions into the English curriculum impact the critical thinking skills of high school language arts students?

The findings from this study indicate that asynchronous online discussions positively impacted critical thinking skills when integrated into the English curriculum. The data from three instruments were combined to arrive at this result: (1) CCTT, (2) HCTSR, and (3) focus group interviews. Each instrument provided a unique perspective on how critical thinking skills were impacted by ASD.

Pretest and posttest scores on the CCTT provided evidence that critical thinking skills were positively impacted by ASD. Paired sample *t*-tests and Wilcoxon signed-rank tests showed that posttest scores were significantly higher than pretest scores. In addition, multiple thinking subscales of the CCTT resulted in significant improvements between the posttest and pretest. The most notable improvements were seen on three subscales: (1) Assumption, (2) Observation and (3) Deduction. This provides evidence that the intervention had a multifaceted impact on the student's critical thinking, impacting some subscales more than others. Since critical thinking is comprised of a series of abilities and thinking processes (Burbules & Berk, 1999), it is important to note the specific skills that resulted in the greatest impact from the intervention. Likewise, students demonstrated significant improvements in critical thinking in their writing based on the HCTSR. Results of the repeated measures ANVOA showed a significant

difference from the beginning of the intervention to the end. Post hoc tests revealed that the majority of this improvement occurred between Week 3 and Week 5, suggesting time of exposure had an impact on changes in critical thinking skills. This indicated that longer exposures to ASD could result in a greater impact on critical thinking skills. Finally, focus group interviews revealed two themes that suggested an impact on critical thinking: (1) Online debates engaged students in multiple dimensions of critical thinking and (2) Debates positively impacted students' ability to create written arguments. These themes indicated that students were encouraged to use their critical thinking skills within ASD and resulted in improved thinking and argumentative writing performance.

The results of these measures support previous studies that found that critical thinking is a skill that can be cultivated when students are placed in the appropriate environment (Mehta & Al-Mahrooqi, 2014). Participants in this study demonstrated increased critical thinking skills across three measures, which provides evidence that ASD can be used as an effective instructional strategy to cultivate the critical thinking skills of students. This study supports Zhou (2015), who found that utilizing ASD can promote critical thinking in higher education. While much of the research on this topic has been performed in higher education, the findings of this study suggest that ASD can also be used to cultivate these skills at the secondary level. These results indicate that ASD can have similar impacts at the secondary level. Although Wu et al. (2013) found that ASD could result in lower-level discussions, the findings of this study indicate critical thinking improved the longer students engaged in ASD, resulting in more higher-level discussion, which corroborates the findings of Arend (2009) and Ekahitanond (2013).

With the positive impact of ASD on critical thinking indicated on the CCTT, HCSTR, and focus group interviews, there is evidence that ASD can be used cultivate critical thinking. One element of this tool that could lead to this positive impact is its use of constructivist principles, in particular social interaction. Perrow (2017) identified social interaction as an important learning strategy within constructivism as well as a tool to cultivate critical thinking. Discussion has been shown to be effective in generating social interaction that stimulates social interaction (Osborne et al., 2018). Students that participated in ASD within this study engaged in this social negotiation process that allowed them to develop the array of thinking skills that comprise critical thinking. In particular, results of the CCTT provided evidence that students improved their thinking skills in the areas of observation, deduction and assumption. The social interactions that took place within this study impacted student abilities to think about issues and opened their minds to different perspectives. Guiller et al. (2008) found similar results, noting that the close relationship between critical thinking and constructivism make it an ideal design approach to target these thinking skills. Likewise, the findings of this study support Hurst et al. (2013), who found that constructivist environments featuring a focus on discussion to be effective in the cultivation of critical thinking.

A key premise of this study was that the elements of writing and argumentation within ASD could encourage students to engage in more frequent critical thinking (Liu & Stapleton, 2018). Results from the HCSTR and focus group interviews supported this idea as levels of critical thinking increased each week of the intervention. Additionally, focus group interviews supported this idea as students indicated that the writing process encouraged them to think about issues from multiple perspective, which helped them to

develop their argumentative writing ability. Darabi et al. (2011) found similar results, providing evidence that students exhibited more complex thoughts within ASD, especially when making arguments to justify their position. Within this study, students found this justification helped them look at issues from different perspectives and helped them anticipate how their opponents might respond.

When considering future redesigns of this intervention, several elements could improve its impact on critical thinking. First, allowing students additional time to complete their responses could lead to greater depth of thought and opportunity to consider additional perspectives. Some students noted that there were occasions when limited time constraints prevented them from contributing their best work to the discussion. This is supported by the findings of Wise et al. (2013) who found that length of time participating in ASD was positively correlated to improvements in critical thinking. Another improvement in a redesign would be to provide students with more access to outside resources to improve their ability to gather and critically examine information (Gao et al., 2013). Students in this study were restricted by the district's network firewall, which prevented them from accessing many resources. Incorporating these two elements into the intervention could lead to even greater impacts on critical thinking.

Research Question 2: How do high school language arts students perceive the use of asynchronous online discussions to impact their critical thinking skills?

Findings from the student survey and focus group interviews indicated that students perceived that ASD had a positive impact on their critical thinking skills. On the student survey, students responded with high levels of agreement on three subscales: (1)

reading and writing skills, (2) critical thinking skills, and (3) efficacy. Furthermore, students had particularly levels of agreement on two specific questions: (1) *Online discussions improve my ability to look at issues from different perspectives* and (2) *Online discussions improve my critical thinking skills*. In the focus group interviews, two themes emerged which reflected students' perceptions of the ASD: (1) Students had positive perceptions of the debate experience, and (2) Students learned from peer interactions within the online debates. The results of both measures indicated that students perceived that their critical thinking was positively impacted by engaging in ASD.

Previous studies have shown that reading and interpreting the posts of peers can be effective tool in developing critical thinking (Wise et al., 2013). Additionally, Pei et al. (2017) found a close relationship between writing and critical thinking. Results from this study indicated a similar connection between reading, writing, and critical thinking. In focus group interviews, students indicated that this process of reading and writing helped them better understand class concepts such as rhetoric. In addition, they used the posts of peers as models of good and bad examples of argumentative writing. Similarly, results from the student survey indicated that students perceived that ASD helped them to understand the importance of rhetoric well as incorporate these concepts into their writing.

In addition, students described positive perceptions of their overall ASD experience on both the student survey and in focus group interviews. In focus group interviews, students described how the structure of the ASD allowed them to engage with their classmates in a comfortable and structure format. This motivated them to participate

and encouraged more students engage with the class activity than would normally occur in a traditional face-to-face format. Likewise, student survey results indicated that ASD promoted student motivation to learn as well created an enjoyable experience. These results support the findings of Guiller et al. (2008) who found positive perceptions of ASD and a preference to engage in ASD as compared to face-to-face instructions. Additionally, student perceptions of feeling more comfortable and motivated to participate in the online environment corroborate the findings of Bardakci et al. (2018).

Students also indicated that ASD helped them connect with course content and extend their thinking about this information through social interaction. The findings of the student survey provided evidence that students perceived that their participation in ASD helped improve their self-efficacy to meet class learning expectations. Likewise, in the focus group interviews, student stated that they were able to learn from their peer interactions with ASD, which helped improve their performance. Foo and Quek (2019) identified similar impacts, noting that social interaction is one of the most commonly cited purposes for incorporating ASD into the instructional setting. Similarly, Yang et al. (2014) demonstrated positive learning outcomes in students after social interaction within ASD. These results also corroborate the finding of Alzahrani (2017) who suggested that participation in ASD could lead to improved learning outcomes and mastery of course content. From a constructivist point of view, these findings may be explained by the fact that ASD engaged students in a process of social interaction and reflection which encouraged diverse perspectives and making connections (Howard & Brady, 2015).

To improve student perceptions of the intervention's impact on their critical thinking skills, two changes could be made to a future redesign of the intervention. First,

results of this study indicated that students felt that different debate topics would have helped motivate them to participate. This could help create topics that are relevant to student's lives, which Mehta and Al-Mahrooqi (2014) found to be an important component of well-designed ASD. Second, increasing the group size to four participants could help eliminate issues that resulted when students were paired with an individual who did not put forth an adequate effort towards their contribution. Students noted that this type of circumstance decreased their motivation and prevented them from taking advantage of this learning opportunity.

Implications

There are numerous implications that resulted from this action research process. As an action research study, one of my goals is to help other teachers within my context improve the critical thinking skills of students. On personal level, engaging in this process has changed the way I research, design, and implement lessons in my own classroom. The discussion of implications is divided into the following sections: (1) implications for teaching secondary language arts, (2) personal implications, and (3) implications for future research.

Implications for teaching secondary language arts

The findings of this study resulted in several implications to help secondary language arts teachers improve their students' academic achievement and critical thinking abilities. The following section will present several implications for secondary language arts teachers as a result of the findings of this study. The implications that will be presented include: (1) expose students to different perspectives, (2) provide opportunities for discussions, (3) encourage students to gather and analyze information, (4) incorporate writing into lessons, and (5) course design.

Expose students to different perspectives. Teachers are often guilty of providing students with very limited perspectives on the subject matter they teach. However, it is clear that in order to improve critical thinking skills, students must be exposed to numerous perspectives. One of the key findings of this study was that within ASD, students were exposed to numerous different perspectives on each topic, which encouraged them to think about issues critically. In the language arts classroom, the ability to carefully analyze course content is an essential skill and vital to achieving success in the class. For example, when reading a non-fiction article, students are not only required grasp the basic meaning of the text, but also analyze it for multiple implicit features such as trustworthiness, bias, and word connotations. ASD can help students cultivate these critical thinking skills and apply them to the language arts classroom.

Provide opportunities for discussion. Discussion has been shown to be an effective tool for learning and cultivating critical thinking (Hurst et al., 2013). Classes with higher levels of discourse have been shown to reach higher levels of academic achievement and critical thinking (Zhao & Chan, 2014). In the language arts classroom, students need to be provided with the opportunity for discussion to extend their learning and develop their ability to think about issues differently. These discussions can come in multiple ways, whether it is face-to-face or electronically. This study has indicated that ASD can be a successful method to incorporate this vital discussion into the classroom while encouraging maximum class participation and removing some of the traditional barriers that prevent some students from contributing to discussions (e.g., social anxiety).

Encourage students to gather and analyze information. The process of gathering and analyzing information that is relevant and reliable is an essential skill in the language arts classroom as well as an important component of critical thinking (Facione, 1990). Although research is a well-known aspect of the language arts curriculum, this process of gathering and analyzing information does not have to be limited to assigning research projects. This process can be extended to all units of the curriculum. By gathering and analyzing relevant information about the current unit of study, students are able to extend their learning and create new mental constructs, which makes the learning more meaningful (Bloom et al., 1956). This is also an essential skill that students must be prepared to use to meet the demands of a 21st century workforce (Pellegrino & Hilton, 2012).

Incorporate writing into lessons. One of the primary goals of the secondary language arts classroom is to teach students to be effective communicators, especially through writing. Studies have shown that writing can be effective tool to improve learning outcomes and cultivate critical thinking (Nejmaoui, 2019). Additionally, a close relationship exists between writing and critical thinking, and growth in writing ability often results in critical thinking (Pei et al., 2017). Results of this study suggested that writing can be a very social process that can help students look at issues from different perspectives while social constructing new knowledge with their peers. Furthermore, utilizing writing as a social process can enhance the quality of writing and improve students' perceived benefits of the process (Belcher et al., 2015). Therefore, writing should also be used as a social activity within the classroom, using strategies such as ASD or peer editing. This writing should provide students the opportunity to interact

back and forth and engage in the social interaction process that is vital to critical thinking (Bean, 2011).

Course design. The findings of this study resulted in several implications for the instructional design of the secondary language art classroom, especially when incorporating ASD into instruction. First, students indicated that topics played an important role in their enjoyment and motivation to contribute meaningful responses. Providing students with a degree of topic choice can help students receive the maximum impact from the design. Secondly, grouping is very important, and it is necessary to consider how individuals will work together within the lesson. Within this study, students indicated that when they were paired with an individual who was not properly participating, their learning experience was hurt as well as their motivation to input their maximum effort. Therefore, it is important for educators to take measures to ensure all students receive maximum benefits from their lesson and take action when students are not putting forth effort. Finally, students need to be given the proper amount of time to think and develop carefully thought-out contributions, especially when critical thinking is the goal. Students in this study felt they were rushed at times, which prevented them from putting forth their best effort. Allowing students time to consider different perspectives of a topic and gather information can help improve learning outcomes and cultivate critical thinking.

Personal Implications

Developing this action research dissertation has resulted in a great deal of personal growth. In particular, it has changed the way that I conduct research and the way that I address issues within my own personal context. This experience has led me to

be a more effective educator and a leader within my school community. These personal implications will be discussed in the sections below. It will consist of three topics: (1) reflection on action research, (2) reflection on mixed methods, and (3) insights for my current role.

Reflection on action research. Conducting an action research process within my own classroom has helped me understand the importance of using data to drive instruction in an effort to improve the learning outcomes of the community of learners that I work with. The world of education is extremely diverse, and there is no one solution that will solve every problem in all contexts. Through action research, I was encouraged to consider the unique circumstances that students experience within my sphere of influence (Mertler, 2017). Although the results of this study may be successfully applied to other classrooms and other contexts, I know for a fact that the students that I work with on a daily basis will benefit from these practices. Additionally, the cyclical nature of action research means that this process will continue. I will continue refining the practices that I have developed within this study to improve the learning outcomes of my students.

Reflection on mixed methods. Adopting a mixed methods design to research has resulted in the most complete description of the phenomena that took place within my study (Creswell, 2014). Combining qualitative and quantitative data provided different perspectives and provided a more detailed understanding of the experience of my students while participating in ASD. Because critical thinking is such a complex process, it was important to utilize multiple data points to help triangulate the results of the study. Furthermore, action research emphasizes using all appropriate resources to best enact the

desired change. From a more personal perspective, conducting a mixed methods study has helped me understand the value of all forms of data, both qualitative and quantitative. Each data point tells a small part a participant's story, and when all data points are integrated, a more complete description emerges.

Insights for my current role. Preparing students to meet the challenges of a modern society is one of the primary goals of my school. My research into improving the critical thinking skills of students directly supports the vision of the school. This has enabled me to connect with colleagues of all subject-areas to share what I have learned about this essential thinking skill. As a result, my leadership role within the school has grown. It has led to opportunities for me to lead professional development and continue the action research vision of connecting research with what actually takes place in the real world (Johnson, 2008).

Implications for Future Research

For action research, it is important to consider the next step of research to continue the cycle of continuous improvement. There are three future research implications that should be considered for the next stage of action research: (1) discussion forum design, (2) motivation, and (3) peer interaction.

Discussion forum design. The instructional design of ASD can prove to be essential in ensuring students receive the maximum benefit from the activity. For example, students in this student found that more time to complete the activity may have helped stimulate more careful thinking. Additionally, students felt that different topics would have helped stimulate them to think more deeply about the content. Identifying the key design features that promote critical thinking could be important researcher as

educators look to develop this important skill. Although, Schindler and Burkholder (2014) identified several key concepts of ASD design that promote critical thinking (e.g., grouping and approach), more research needs to be performed to provide additional evidence of the most effective design of an ASD instructional unit.

Motivation. As with any activity that involves peer interaction, it is important that all individuals involved are properly contributing in order to achieve the maximum possible benefit. Students in this study indicated that when their partner did not match their effort, their motivation suffered. Individuals who were not meeting the expectations set forth for them, were clearly not receiving the benefit of ASD. Additionally, their lack of effort hurt the learning outcomes and motivation of their classmates. Therefore, future research should look at the factors which motivate students to devote time and mental energy to completing ASD. This research could improve the quality of ASD and improve the performance of its participants.

Peer interaction. This study analyzed the presence of critical thinking in individual student posts; however, it did not attempt to analyze the discourse that took place between student groups. A discourse analysis of ASD could provide additional details about the peer interactions within ASD that lead to the cultivation of critical thinking. Describing this phenomenon could provide educators with additional information on designing ASD to create an ideal to environment to stimulate the peer interactions vital to generating critical thinking.

Limitations

Although results from this study provide evidence that demonstrate that ASD has a significant impact on student critical thinking skills, there are several limitations. These

limitations represent opportunities for further research. Limitations for this study fall into the following three categories and will be discussed below: (1) methodology, (2) researcher, (3) participants.

Methodology

Because this was an action research study, methodological limitations exist by its nature. The focus of this method was not to create generalizable research, but to create a series of practices that directly impact the community being studied (Gustavsen et al., 2008). Therefore, the findings of this study may be limited to the context in which the study took place as the goal of this research was to improve the effectiveness of my own practice (Mertler, 2017). In addition to the nature of action research, the study was limited by the reliability of some of the instruments. Both the Cornell Critical Thinking Test and the student survey contained subcategories that failed to meet acceptable levels of reliability. While previous studies have demonstrated the reliability of these instruments, results of this study failed to reach this level in some subcategories. Finally, the topic of each week's debate was different, and it is possible that these topics played a role in student performance in the discussions. Students may have been more motivated to perform on topics they were interested in and less motivated on topics that did not capture their attention.

Researcher

Although Mertler (2017) notes that action research is particularly well-suited to classroom teacher because of the "participative" role the researcher plays in the process, it does present some limitations to the study. My position as an insider in the study had the potential to lead to me view results more positively than the results show (Herr &

Anderson, 2005). In addition, as the teacher of participants in the study, I wanted to see students succeed and perform well on this intervention as well as in my class. It was possible that I may have unintentionally influenced students to view the intervention more positively than they would have with a different researcher. These limitations could be avoided if a different researcher implemented the intervention who did not have a vested interest in the performance of the participants.

Participants

All students in this study were composed of exclusively of 9th grade students who were enrolled in my English 1 Honors class. This represented a very narrow sample of the actual high school population. More research needs to be performed on different age groups and different achievement levels. Also, the sample sizes for all four measures were relatively small and limited to only those students enrolled in my class. Therefore, use of a random sample was not possible, which presents a limitation to this study.

Conclusion

Critical thinking will increasingly play an important role in society as we advance through the 21st century (Bok, 2005). As schools attempt to prepare students to meet the demands of a modern society, it is important that teachers are armed with the instructional strategies best suited to develop these skills. This study has provided evidence that ASD can be integrated into the curriculum to cultivate the critical thinking skills of students. As technology becomes increasingly adopted by schools across the country, ASD represents a viable, low-cost instructional strategy to help teachers of all subject areas encourage students to critically think about course content while developing these essential skills.

REFERENCES

- ACT. (2019). Writing test description for the ACT. http://www.act.org/content/act/en/products-and-services/the-act/testpreparation/description-of-writing-test.html
- Adams, K. A., & Lawrence, E. K. (2018). Dependent groups design. In *Research Methods, Statistics, and Applications* (2nd ed., pp. 357–400). SAGE Publications.
- Adams, K. A., & Lawrence, E. K. (2019). *Research methods, statistics, and applications* (2nd ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Afify, M. K. (2019). The influence of group size in the asynchronous online discussions on the development of critical thinking skills, and on improving students' performance in online discussion forum. *International Journal of Emerging Technologies in Learning*, 14(5), 132–152. https://doi.org/10.3991/ijet.v14i05.9351
- Ak, Ş. (2016). The role of technology-based scaffolding in problem-based online asynchronous discussion. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 47(4), 680– 693. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.12254
- Aloni, M., & Harrington, C. (2018). Research based practices for improving the effectiveness of asynchronous online discussion boards. *Scholarship of Teaching* and Learning in Psychology, 4(4), 271–289. https://doi.org/10.1037/stl0000121
- Alzahrani, M. G. (2017a). The effect of using online discussion forums in blended learning courses at Saudi universities. *The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, 16(1), 164–176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bone.2006.02.061
- Alzahrani, M. G. (2017b). The effect of using online discussion forums on students' learning. *Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, 16(1), 164–176.
- Arend, B. (2009). Encouraging critical thinking in online threaded discussions. *The Journal of Educators Online*, 6(1), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v10i1.589
- Arum, R., & Roksa, J. (2011). Limited learning on college campuses. *Soc*, *48*, 203–207. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12115-011-9417-8

- Bardakci, S., Arslan, O., & Can, Y. (2018). Online learning and high school students: A cultural perspective. *Turkish Online Journal of Distance Education*, *19*(4), 126–147.
- Bean, J. C. (2011). How writing is related to critical thinking. In *Engaging Ideas: The Professor's Guide to Integrating Writing, Critical Thinking, and Active Learning in the Classroom* (2nd ed., pp. 17–38). Jossey-Bass.
- Beckmann, J., & Weber, P. (2016). Cognitive presence in virtual collaborative learning: Assessing and improving critical thinking in online discussion forums. *Interactive Technology and Smart Education*, 13(1), 52–70. https://doi.org/10.1108/ITSE-12-2015-0034
- Behar-Horenstein, L. S., & Niu, L. (2011). Teaching critical thinking skills in higher education: A review of the literature. *Journal of College Teaching & Learning*, 8(2), 25–42. https://doi.org/10.19030/tlc.v8i2.3554
- Belcher, A. R., Hall, B. M., Kelley, K., & Pressey, K. L. (2015). An analysis of faculty promotion of critical thinking and peer interaction within threaded discussions. *Online Learning Journal*, 19(4), 37–45. https://doi.org/10.24059/olj.v19i4.544
- Bliss, C. A., & Lawrence, B. (2009). Is the whole greater than the sum of its parts? A comparison of small group and whole class discussion board activity in online courses. *Journal of Asychronous Learning Networks*, 13(4), 25–39.
- Bloom, B. S., Engelhart, M. D., Furst, E. J., Hill, W. H., & Krathwohl, D. R. (1956). *Taxonomy of educational objectives: The classification of educational goals*. Longmans, Green, and Co LTD.
- Bok, D. (2005). Our underachieving colleges: A candid look at how much students learn and why they should be learning more. In *Learning to Communicate* (pp. 82–109).
 Princeton University Press. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221546.2007.11772333
- Bruner, J. (1974). Toward a theory of instruction. Harvard University Press.
- Burbules, N. C., & Berk, R. (1999). Critical thinking and critical pedagogy: Relations, differences, and limits. In T. S. Popkewitz & L. Fendler (Eds.), *Critical Theories in Education* (pp. 100–108). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004
- Butler, H. A., Pentoney, C., & Bong, M. P. (2017). Predicting real-world outcomes: Critical thinking ability is a better predictor of life decisions than intelligence. *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, 25, 38–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2017.06.005

- Chakrabarti, D. (2010). Student interactions in online discussion forum: Empirical research from 'media richness theory' perspective. *Journal of Interactive Online Learning*, 9(1), 1–22.
- Cheng, C. K., Paré, D. E., Collimore, L. M., & Joordens, S. (2011). Assessing the effectiveness of a voluntary online discussion forum on improving students' course performance. *Computers and Education*, 56(1), 253–261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2010.07.024
- Chiu, T. K. F., & Hew, T. K. F. (2018). Factors influencing peer learning and performance in MOOC asynchronous online discussion forum. *Australasian Journal* of Educational Technology, 34(4), 16–28. https://doi.org/10.14742/ajet.3240
- Chou, T., Wu, J., & Tsai, C. (2019). Research Trends and Features of Critical Thinking Studies in E-Learning Environments: A Review. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, 57(4), 1038–1077. https://doi.org/10.1177/0735633118774350
- Conley, D. T. (2015). The challenge of college readiness. *Educational Leadership*, 64(7), 23–29.
- Cooperstein, S. E., & Kocevar-Weidinger, E. (2004). Beyond active learning: A constructivist approach to learning. *Reference Services Review*, 32(2), 141–148. https://doi.org/10.1108/00907320410537658
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). *Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches* (4th ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2018). The selection of a research approach. In *Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches* (5th ed., pp. 3–22). SAGE Publications.
- Darabi, A., Arrastia, M. C., Nelson, D. W., Cornille, T., & Liang, X. (2011). Cognitive presence in asynchronous online learning: A comparison of four discussion strategies. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 27(3), 216–227. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2729.2010.00392.x
- de Jong, N., Verstegen, D. M. L., Tan, F. E. S., & O'Connor, S. J. (2013). A comparison of classroom and online asynchronous problem-based learning for students undertaking statistics training as part of a Public Health Masters degree. *Advances in Health Sciences Education*, 18(2), 245–264. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10459-012-9368-x

- DeNoyelles, A., Zydney, J., & Chen, B. (2014). Strategies for creating a community of inquiry through online asynchronous discussions. *Journal of Online Learning and Teaching*, 10(1), 153–165.
- Dewey, J. (1910). *How we think*. DC Heath & Co.
- Dipasquale, J., & Hunter, W. J. (2018). Critical thinking in asynchronous online discussions: A systematic review. *Canadian Journal of Learning and Technology*, 44(2), 1–25. https://doi.org/10.21432/cjlt27782
- Ekahitanond, V. (2013). Promoting university students' critical thinking skills through peer feedback activity in an online discussion forum. *Alberta Journal of Educational Research*, 59(2), 247–265.
- Ennis, R. H. (1993). Critical thinking assessment. Theory into Practice, 32(3), 179–186.
- Ennis, R. H. (2005). Supplement to the test/manual entitled The Ennis-Weir Critical Thinking Essay Test. Illinois Critical Thinking Project.
- Ennis, R. H. (2018). Critical thinking across the curriculum : A vision. *Topoi*, *37*, 165–184. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11245-016-9401-4
- Ennis, R. H., Millman, J., & Tomko, T. N. (2005). *Cornell critical thinking tests level X and level Z manual* (5th ed.). The Critical Thinking Co.
- Ertmer, P. A., & Newby, T. J. (1993). Behaviorism, cognitivism, constructivisim: Comparing critical features from an instructional design perspective. *Performance Improvement Quarterly*, 6(4), 50–72.
- Ertmer, P. A., & Newby, T. J. (2013). Behaviorism, cognitivism, constructivism: Comparing critical features from an instructional design perspective. *Performance Improvement Quarterly*, 26(2), 43–71. https://doi.org/10.1002/piq
- Espey, M. (2018). Enhancing critical thinking using team-based learning. *Higher Education Research and Development*, 37(1), 15–29. https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360.2017.1344196
- Facione, P. A. (1990). Critical thinking: A statement of expert consensus for purposes of educational assessment and instruction. https://philarchive.org/archive/FACCTA
- Feilzer, M. Y. (2010). Doing mixed methods research pragmatically: Implications for the rediscovery of pragmatism as a research paradigm. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 4(1), 6–16. https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689809349691

- Foo, S. Y., & Quek, C. L. (2019). Developing student' critical thinking through asynchronous online discussions: A literature review. *Malaysian Online Journal of Educational Technology*, 7(2), 37–58.
- Forbes, K. (2018). Exploring first year undergraduate students ' conceptualizations of critical thinking skills. *International Journal of Teaching and Learning in Higher Education*, *30*(3), 433–442.
- Gao, F. (2014). Exploring the use of discussion strategies and labels in asynchronous online discussion. *Journal of Asynchronous Learning Network*, 18(3), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.24059/olj.v18i3.460
- Gao, F., Zhang, T., & Franklin, T. (2013). Designing asynchronous online discussion environments: Recent progress and possible future directions. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 44(3), 469–483. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8535.2012.01330.x
- Gao, J., Guo, W., & Wang, M. (2018). Learners' critical thinking characteristics in asynchronous online discussion. *The Sixth International Conference of Educational Innovation through Technology*, 70–74. https://doi.org/10.1109/EITT.2017.25
- Garside, C. (1996). Look who's talking: A comparison of lecture and group discussion teaching strategies in developing critical thinking skills. *Communication Education*, 45(3), 212–227.
- Giacumo, L. A., & Savenye, W. (2020). Asynchronous discussion forum design to support cognition: Effects of rubrics and instructor prompts on learner's critical thinking, achievement, and satisfaction. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 68(1), 37–66. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-019-09664-5
- Giacumo, L. A., Savenye, W., & Smith, N. (2013). Facilitation prompts and rubrics on higher-order thinking skill performance found in undergraduate asynchronous discussion boards. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 44(5), 774–794. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8535.2012.01355.x
- Giuliano, D., & VonColln-Appling, C. (2017). A concept analysis of critical thinking: A guide for nurse educators. *Nurse Education Today*, 49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2016.11.007
- Gliem, J. A., & Gliem, R. R. (2003). Calculating, interpreting, and reporting Cronbach's alpha reliability coefficient for Likert-type scales. *Midwest Research-to-Practice Conference in Adult, Continuing, and Community Education.*

- Goggins, S., & Xing, W. (2016). Building models explaining student participation behavior in asynchronous online discussion. *Computers and Education*, 94, 241– 251. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2015.11.002
- Gokhale, A., & MaChina, K. (2018). Guided online group discussion enhances student critical thinking skills. *International Journal on E-Learning: Corporate, Government, Healthcare, and Higher Education, 17*(2), 157–173.
- Guiller, J., Durndell, A., & Ross, A. (2008). Peer interaction and critical thinking: Faceto-face or online discussion? *Learning and Instruction*, 18(2), 187–200. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.learninstruc.2007.03.001
- Gustavsen, B., Hansson, A., & Qvale, T. U. (2008). Action research and the challenge of scope. In P. Reason & H. Bradbury (Eds.), *The Sage Handbook of Action Research: Participative Inquiry and Practice* (2nd ed., pp. 63–76). SAGE Publications.
- Hajhosseini, M., Zandi, S., Hosseini Shabanan, S., & Madani, Y. (2016). Critical thinking and social interaction in active learning: A conceptual analysis of class discussion from Iranian students' perspective. *Cogent Education*, *3*, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1080/2331186X.2016.1175051
- Hall, J. N. (2013). Pragmatism, evidence, and mixed methods evaluation. New Directions for Evaluation, 138, 15–26. https://doi.org/10.1002/ev.20054
- Hall, R. A. (2015). Critical thinking in online discussion boards: Transforming an anomaly. Varied Learning Environments, 21–28.
- Hays, W. L. (1988). Statistics (4th ed.). Holt, Rinehart & Winston.
- Herr, K., & Anderson, G. L. (2005). The action research dissertation: A guide for students and faculty. SAGE Publications. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2006.04168.x
- Hew, K. F. (2015). Student perceptions of peer versus instructor facilitation of asynchronous online discussions: Further findings from three cases. *Instructional Science*, 43(1), 19–38. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11251-014-9329-2
- Hew, K. F., & Cheung, W. S. (2011). Higher-level knowledge construction in asynchronous online discussions: An analysis of group size, duration of online discussion, and student facilitation techniques. *Instructional Science*, 39(3), 303– 319. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11251-010-9129-2
- Hew, K. F., Cheung, W. S., & Ng, C. S. L. (2010). Student contribution in asynchronous online discussion: A review of the research and empirical exploration. *Instructional Science*, 38(6), 571–606. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11251-008-9087-0

- Hou, H. T., Wang, S. M., Lin, P. C., & Chang, K. E. (2015). Exploring the learner's knowledge construction and cognitive patterns of different asynchronous platforms: Comparison of an online discussion forum and Facebook. *Innovations in Education and Teaching International*, 52(6), 610–620. https://doi.org/10.1080/14703297.2013.847381
- Howard, C., & Brady, M. (2015). Teaching social research methods after the critical turn: Challenges and benefits of a constructivist pedagogy. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 18(5), 511–525. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2015.1062625
- Huang, X. (2017). Example-based learning: Effects of different types of examples on student performance, cognitive load and self-efficacy in a statistical learning task. *Interactive Learning Environments*, 25(3), 283–294. https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2015.1121154
- Hurst, B., Wallace, R., & Nixon, S. (2013). The impact of social interaction on student learning. *Reading Horizons*, 52(4), 375–398. https://doi.org/10.1080/15534510601154413
- Jarvis, M. A., & Baloyi, O. B. (2020). Scaffolding in reflective journaling: A means to develop higher order thinking skills in undergraduate learners. *International Journal* of Africa Nursing Sciences, 12(October 2019), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijans.2020.100195
- Jin, L., & Jeong, A. (2013). Learning achieved in structured online debates: Levels of learning and types of postings. *Instructional Science*, 41, 1141–1152. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11251-013-9269-2
- Johnson, A. P. (2008). A short guide to action research (3rd ed.). Allyn & Bacon.
- Jonassen, D. H. (1991). Evaluating constructivistic learning. *Educational Technology*, *31*(9), 28–33.
- Jonassen, D. H., Davidson, M., Collins, M., Campbell, J., & Haag, B. B. (1995). Constructivism and computer-mediated communication in distance education. *American Journal of Distance Education*, 9(2), 7–26. https://doi.org/10.1080/08923649509526885
- Jones, T. (2017). Playing detective to enhance critical thinking. *Teaching and Learning in Nursing*, *12*(1), 73–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.teln.2016.09.005

- Kalelioğlu, F., & Gülbahar, Y. (2014). The effect of instructional techniques on critical thinking and critical thinking dispositions in online discussion. *Educational Technology & Society*, 17(1), 248–258.
- Knox, D. K. (2013). The California critical thinking skills test. In Clemson Thinks.
- Kokotsaki, D., Menzies, V., & Wiggins, A. (2016). Project-based learning: A review of the literature. *Improving Schools*, 19(3). https://doi.org/10.1177/1365480216659733
- Koole, S., de Wever, B., Aper, L., Vervaeke, S., Derese, A., & de Bruyn, H. (2012). Using online periodontal case-based discussions to synchronize theoretical and clinical undergraduate dental education. *European Journal of Dental Education*, *16*(1), 52–58. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0579.2011.00719.x
- Krathwohl, D. R. (2002). A taxonomy for learning, teaching, and assessing: A revision of Bloom's taxonomy of educational objectives. *Theory into Practice*, *41*(4), 212–218.
- Kreijns, K., Kirschner, P. A., & Jochems, W. (2003). Identifying the pitfalls for social interaction in computer-supported collaborative learning environments: A review of research. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 19, 335–353. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-4666-7230-7.ch036
- Kubiak, G. D. (1991). America 2000: A national education strategy. *Council for American Private Education*, 171.
- Küçük, M. (2010). Lurking in online asynchronous discussion. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 2(2), 2260–2263. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2010.03.319
- Lai, C. L., & Hwang, G. J. (2014). Effects of mobile learning time on students' conception of collaboration, communication, complex problem-solving, metacognitive awareness and creativity. *International Journal of Mobile Learning and Organisation*, 8(3/4), 276–291. https://doi.org/10.1504/ijmlo.2014.067029
- Lee, M. Y., Kim, H., & Kim, M. (2014). The effects of Socratic questioning on critical thinking in web-based collaborative learning. *Education as Change*, 18(2), 285–302. https://doi.org/10.1080/16823206.2013.849576
- Lennon, S. (2017). Questioning for controversial and critical thinking dialogues in the social studies classroom. *Issues in Teacher Education*, 26(1), 3–16.
- Lewandowski, J., Barneveld, A. Van, & Etmer, P. A. (2016). Posting with intentionality in online instruction: Supporting instructors' facilitation efforts. *Educational Technology*, *56*(4), 15–21.

- Lin, W. C., & Yang, S. C. (2011). Exploring students' perceptions of integrating Wiki technology and peer feedback into English writing courses. *English Teaching: Practice and Critique*, 10(2), 88–103.
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). Establishing trustworthiness. In *Naturalistic Inquiry* (pp. 289–332). SAGE Publications.
- Liu, F., & Stapleton, P. (2018). Connecting writing assessment with critical thinking: An exploratory study of alternative rhetorical functions and objects of enquiry in writing prompts. *Assessing Writing*, 38, 10–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.asw.2018.09.001
- Lo, C. C., Johnson, E., & Tenorio, K. (2011). Promoting student learning by having college students participate in an online environment. *Journal of Scholarship of Teaching and Learning*, *11*(2), 1–15.
- Lunenburg, F. C. (2011). Critical thinking and constructivism techniques for improving student achievement. *National Forum of Teacher Educational Journal*, 21(3), 1–9.
- Maddix, M. A. (2012). Generating and facilitating effective online learning through discussion. *Christian Education Journal*, *9*(2), 372–385.
- Mahasneh, A. M., & Alwan, A. F. (2018). The effect of project-based learning on student teacher self-efficacy and achievement. *International Journal of Instruction*, 11(3), 511–524. https://doi.org/10.12973/iji.2018.11335a
- Mehta, S. R., & Al-Mahrooqi, R. (2014). Can thinking be taught? Linking critical thinking and writing in an EFL context. *RELC Journal*, 46(1), 23–36. https://doi.org/10.1177/0033688214555356
- Mergel, B. (1998). Instructional design and learning theory [University of Saskatchewan]. In *Learning Theories of Instructional Design*. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315684444
- Mertens, D. M. (2009). *Research and evaluation in education and psychology: Integrating diversity with quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods.* SAGE.
- Mertler, C. A. (2017). *Action research: Improving schools and empowering educators* (5th ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Miri, B., David, B., & Uri, Z. (2007). Purposely teaching for the promotion of higherorder thinking skills : A case of critical thinking. *Research in Science Education*, 37, 353–369. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11165-006-9029-2

- Morgan, D. L. (2007). Paradigms lost and pragmatism regained: Methodological implications of combining qualitative and quantitative methods. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 1(1), 48–76. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470750841.ch9
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2011). National assessment of educational progress at grades 8 and 12. In U.S. Department of Education. https://doi.org/NCES 2008–468
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2017). International comparisons: science, reading, and mathematics literacy of 15-year-old students.
- Nazleen, S., & Rabu, A. (2013). Instructor scaffolding and students ' critical thinking through asynchronous online discussion forum. *Learning and Teaching in Computing and Engineering, March*, 216–219. https://doi.org/10.1109/LaTiCE.2013.24
- Nejmaoui, N. (2019). Improving EFL learners' critical thinking skills in argumentative writing. *English Language Teaching*, 12(1), 98–109. https://doi.org/10.5539/elt.v12n1p98
- Nickerson, K., Breland, H., Trapani, C., Kubota, M., & Walker, M. (2014). New SAT writing prompt study: Analyses of group impact and reliability. In *ETS Research Report Series* (Vol. 2004, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2333-8504.2004.tb01930.x
- Nold, H. (2017). Using critical thinking teaching methods to increase student success: An action research project. *International Journal of Teaching and Learning in Higher Education*, 29(1), 17–32.
- Nosich, G. M. (2012). *Learning to think things through: A guide to critical thinking across the curriculum.* Prentice Hall.
- Obama, B. (2014). *President Barack Obama's State of the Union Address*. Office of the Press Secretary. https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/the-press-office/2014/01/28/president-barack-obamas-state-union-address
- Olusegun, S. (2015). Constructivism learning theory: A paradigm for teaching and learning. *IOSR Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 5(6), 66–70. https://doi.org/10.9790/7388-05616670
- Osborne, D. M., Byrne, J. H., Massey, D. L., & Johnston, A. (2018). Use of online asynchronous discussion boards to engage students, enhance critical thinking, and foster staff-student/student-student collaboration: A mixed method study. *Nurse Education Today*, 70, 40–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2018.08.014

- Palincsar, A. S. (1998). Social constructivist perspectives on teaching and learning. Annual Review of Psychology, 49, 345–375.
- Paul, R. W., & Elder, L. (2002). Critical thinking : Tools for taking charge of your professional and personal life (J. Boyd & A. Kloss, Eds.). Financial Times Prentice Hall.
- Paul, R. W., & Elder, L. (2012). Critical thinking: Tools for taking charge of your learning and your life (3rd ed.). Rowman & Littlefield.
- Pei, Z., Zheng, C., Zhang, M., & Liu, F. (2017). Critical thinking and argumentative writing: Inspecting the association among EFL learners in China. *English Language Teaching*, 10(10), 31–42. https://doi.org/10.5539/elt.v10n10p31
- Pellegrino, J. W., & Hilton, M. L. (2012). Education for life and work: Developing transferable knowledge and skills in the 21st century. In *National Academy of Sciences*. http://www.leg.state.vt.us/WorkGroups/EdOp/Education for Life and Work- National Academy of Sciences.pdf
- Perrow, M. (2017). Strengthening the conversation in blended and face-to face courses: Connecting online and in-person learning with crossover protocols. *College Teaching*, 65(3), 97–105. https://doi.org/10.1080/87567555.2017.1300869
- Piaget, J. (1972). The psychology of the child. Basic Books.
- Polat, S. (2015). The evaluation of qualitative studies in Turkey about critical thinking skill: A meta-synthesis study. *International Online Journal of Educational Sciences*, 7(3), 229–243. https://doi.org/10.15345/iojes.2015.00.022
- Pyrczak, F., & Tcherni-Buzzeo, M. (2019). *Evaluating research in academic journals: A practical guide to realistic evaluation* (7th ed.). Routledge.
- Rios, J. A., Ling, G., Pugh, R., Becker, D., & Bacall, A. (2020). Identifying critical 21stcentury skills for workplace success: A content analysis of job advertisements. *Educational Researcher*, 49(2), 80–89. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X19890600
- Roberts, L. G. (2000). Federal programs to increase children's access to educational technology. *The Future of Children*, 10(2), 181–185. https://doi.org/10.2307/1602695
- Roth, M. S. (2010). The chronicle review: Beyond critical thinking. *The Chronicle of Higher Education*.
- Saldana, J. (2021). *The coding manual for qualitative researchers* (4th ed.). Sage Publications.

- Salter, S., Douglas, T., & Kember, D. (2017). Comparing face-to-face and asynchronous online communication as mechanisms for critical reflective dialogue. *Educational Action Research*, 25(5), 790–805. https://doi.org/10.1080/09650792.2016.1245626
- Sanchez, B., & Lewis, K. D. (2014). Writing shapes thinking: Investigative study of preservice teachers reading, writing to learn, and critical thinking. *Texas Journal of Literacy Education*, 2(1), 55–68.
- SC School Report Card. (2018). Academic achievement.
- Scanlan, J. N., & Hancock, N. (2010). Online discussions develop students' clinical reasoning skills during fieldwork. *Australian Occupational Therapy Journal*, 57(6), 401–408. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1630.2010.00883.x
- Schindler, L. A., & Burkholder, G. J. (2014). Instructional design and facilitation approaches that promote critical thinking in asynchronous online discussions: A review of the literature. *Higher Learning Research Communications*, 4(4), 12–29.
- Seddon, G. M. (1978). The properties of Bloom's taxonomy of educational objectives for the cognitive domain. *Review of Educational Research*, 48(2), 303–323. https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543048002303
- Skramstad, E., Schlosser, C., & Orellana, A. (2012). Teaching presence and communication timeliness in asynchronous online courses. *The Quarterly Review of Distance Education*, 13(3), 183–188.
- Song, W. (2019). A study on the influence of teachers' questioning in high school English reading class on student' critical thinking. *Theory and Practice in Language Studies*, 9(4), 424–428. https://doi.org/10.17507/tpls.0904.09
- Spatariu, A., & Winsor, D. (2013). Factors that influence the quality of online discussion. In T. Bastiaens & G. Marks (Eds.), *E-Learn 2013: World Conference on E-Learning, Government, Healthcare, and Higher Education* (pp. 1398–1406). Association for the Advancement of Computing Education.
- Sumarni, W. (2015). The strengths and weaknesses of the implementation of project based learning: A review. *International Journal of Science Research*, 4(3), 478–484.
- Swart, R. (2017). Critical thinking instruction and technology enhanced learning from the student perspective: A mixed methods research study. *Nurse Education in Practice*, 23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2017.02.003
- Szabo, Z., & Schwartz, J. (2011). Learning methods for teacher education: The use of online discussions to improve critical thinking. *Technology, Pedagogy and Education*, 20(1), 79–94. https://doi.org/10.1080/1475939X.2010.534866

- Tam, M. (2000). Constructivism, instructional design, and technology: Implications for transforming distance learning. *Journal of Educational Technology*, *3*(2), 50–60.
- Tamim, S. R., & Grant, M. M. (2013). Definitions and uses: Case study of teachers implementing project-based learning. *Interdisciplinary Journal of Problem-Based Learning*, 7(2), 72–101.

The College Board. (2018). AP five-year school score summary.

The College Board. (2019). AP school summary with comparable groups (Issue 2018).

- Tiruneh, D. T., De Cock, M., & Elen, J. (2018). Designing learning environments for critical thinking: Examining effective instructional approaches. *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, 16, 1065–1089. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10763-017-9829-z
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). Interaction between learning and development. In *Mind in Society: The Development of Higher Psychological Processes* (pp. 79–82). Harvard University Press.
- Wang, S. (2017). An exploration into research on critical thinking and its cultivation: An overview. *Theory and Practice in Language Studies*, 7(12), 1266–1280. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.17507/tpls.0712.14
- Wang, Y., & Chen, D. V. (2011). Overcoming the dilemma of teacher presence in student-centered online discussions. *Journal of Educational Multimedia and Hypermedia*, 20(4), 267–280.
- Weltzer-Ward, L. M. (2014). A synthesized coding framework for asynchronous online discussion research. Walden University.
- Williams, S. S., Pesko, J. C., & Jaramillo, A. (2015). Improving depth of thinking in online discussion boards. *The Quarterly Review of Distance Education*, 16(3), 45– 66.
- Wise, A. F., Speer, J., Marbouti, F., & Hsiao, Y. T. (2013). Broadening the notion of participation in online discussions: Examining patterns in learners' online listening behaviors. *Instructional Science*, 41(2), 323–343. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11251-012-9230-9
- Wu, S. Y., Hou, H. T., Hwang, W. Y., & Liu, E. Z. F. (2013). Analysis of learning behavior in problem-solving-based and project-based discussion activities within the seamless online learning integrated discussion (solid) system. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, 49(1), 61–82. https://doi.org/10.2190/EC.49.1.c

- Wyss, V. L., Freedman, D., & Siebert, C. J. (2014). The development of a discussion rubric for online courses: Standardizing expectations of graduate school students in online scholarly discussions. *TechTrends*, 58(2), 99–107. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11528-014-0741-x
- Yang, Y. C., Gamble, J. H., Hung, Y.-W., & Lin, T.-Y. (2014). An online adaptive learning environment for critical-thinking-infused English literacy instruction. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 45(4), 723–748. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.12080
- Yang, Y. C., Newby, T. J., & Bill, R. L. (2005). Using socratic questioning to promote critical thinking skills through asynchronous discussion forums in distance learning environments. *The American Journal of Distance Education*, 19(3), 163–181. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15389286ajde1903_4
- Zhao, K., & Chan, C. K. K. (2014). Fostering collective and individual learning through knowledge building. *International Journal of Computer-Supported Collaborative Learning*, 9(1), 63–95. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11412-013-9188-x
- Zhou, H. (2015). *Utilizing structured online discussion to promote critical thinking in higher education*. The University of Texas at San Antonio.
- Zhou, Z. (2018). A study on the cultivation of critical thinking ability of English majors. *Theory and Practice in Language Studies*, 8(3), 349–353. https://doi.org/10.2991/ceed-18.2018.25
- Zhu, Y., Wang, J., & Zhang, Y. (2014). On fostering critical thinking and integrating reading and writing instruction under web condition. *Proceedings of the 9th International Conference on Computer Science and Education, ICCCSE 2014.* https://doi.org/10.1109/ICCSE.2014.6926447
- ŽivkoviL, S. (2016). A model of critical thinking as an important attribute for success in the 21st century. *Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 232(April), 102–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2016.10.034
APPENDIX A

THE HOLISTIC CRITICAL THINKING SCORING RUBRIC



Stronger Reasoning & Decision Making: Training Tools & Techniques

The Holistic Critical Thinking Scoring Rubric - HCTSR A Tool for Developing and Evaluating Critical Thinking

The Holistic Critical Thinking Scoring Rubric (HCTSR) is an internationally known rating tool used to assess the quality of thinking displayed in verbal presentations or written reports. The HCTSR can be used in any training program or assessment process. Its greatest value is obtained when used by trainees to assess the quality of their own or another's reasoning. The exercise of applying this holistic evaluation leads trainees to internalize descriptions of strong (and weak) thinking.

Strong 4: Consistently does all or almost all of the following:

Accurately interprets evidence, statements, graphics, questions, etc. Identifies the most important arguments (reasons and claims) pro and con. Thoughtfully analyzes and evaluates major alternative points of view. Draws warranted, judicious, non-fallacious conclusions. Justifies key results and procedures, explains assumptions and reasons. Fair-mindedly follows where evidence and reasons lead.

Acceptable 3: Does most or many of the following:

Accurately interprets evidence, statements, graphics, questions, etc. Identifies relevant arguments (reasons and claims) pro and con. Offers analyses and evaluations of obvious alternative points of view. Draws warranted, non-fallacious conclusions. Justifies some results or procedures, explains reasons. Fair-mindedly follows where evidence and reasons lead.

Unacceptable 2: Does most or many of the following:

Misinterprets evidence, statements, graphics, questions, etc. Fails to identify strong, relevant counter-arguments. Ignores or superficially evaluates obvious alternative points of view. Draws unwarranted or fallacious conclusions. Justifies few results or procedures, seldom explains reasons. Regardless of the evidence or reasons, maintains or defends views based on self-interest or preconceptions.

Significantly Weak 1: Consistently does all or almost all of the following:

Offers biased interpretations of evidence, statements, graphics, questions, information, or the points of view of others. Fails to identify or hastily dismisses strong, relevant counter-arguments. Ignores or superficially evaluates obvious alternative points of view. Argues using fallacious or irrelevant reasons, and unwarranted claims. Does not justify results or procedures, nor explain reasons. Regardless of the evidence or reasons, maintains or defends views based on self-interest or preconceptions. Exhibits close-mindedness or hostility to reason.

Critical Thinking Teaching and Support Resources distributed by Insight Assessment Measuring Critical Thinking Worldwide Use permissions-Contact Insight Assessment 650-697-5628

APPENDIX B

FOCUS GROUP INTERVIEW PROTOCOL

Introductory Protocol

Thank you for agreeing to participate in this focus group interview. The purpose of this interview is to gather information about your experiences with asynchronous online discussion over the past six weeks. Each of you will be asked a series of 5 questions; however, I may ask some follow up questions to ensure I fully understand your response. This interview will be video recorded. This interview will remain strictly confidential, and all information gathered here will be used only for research purposes. Are there any questions?

Participants will all be asked the same question before moving on to the following question. Probing questions will be asked for clarification and to stimulate participants to providing greater detail to their answers.

Questions

- 1. Describe your experiences with online discussions over the past 6 weeks
- 2. Describe your interactions with your peers during online discussion
- 3. How do you think online discussions impacted your understanding of rhetoric?

4. Describe how online discussions impacted your ability to look at issues from different perspectives.

5. Describe how you think online discussion impacted your critical thinking ability?

Debriefing

That concludes today's interview. Once again, I would like to thank you all for participating today. The purpose of this interview was to study the impact of online discussions on your critical thinking skills. The information you provided will be used to study this question. If there are no further questions you are free to go. Again, thank you for participating in today's interview.

APPENDIX C

QUESTION ADAPTATION FOR PERCEPTIONS OF ASYNCHRONOUS ONLINE DISCUSSION QUESTIONAIRE

Original Question		Adapted Question	
1.	Online discussions help me learn biology	1.	Online discussions help me learn about rhetoric
2.	Online discussions help me understand the relationship between ecology and society	2.	Online discussions help me understand the relationship between rhetoric and society.
3.	Online discussions help me better understand the lectures	3.	Online discussion help me better understand class lessons
4.	Online discussions help clarify some biology concepts	4.	Online discussions help clarify some rhetorical strategies
5.	Online discussions help integrate biology concepts of knowledge	5.	Online discussions help integrate rhetorical concepts into my writing
6.	Participating in online discussions promote my learning motivation	6.	Participating in online discussions promote my learning motivation
7.	I enjoy participating in online discussions	7.	I enjoy participating in online discussions
8.	Online discussions are boring	8.	Online discussions are boring
9.	Online discussions are time consuming	9.	Online discussions are time consuming
10	Online discussions are stressful	10	Online discussions are stressful
11	Online discussions improve my ability of science reading	11	Online discussions help improve my ability of reading persuasive texts
12	Online discussions improve my ability of science writing	12	Online discussions improve my persuasive writing ability

Original Question	Adapted Question
13. Online discussions improve my critical thinking skills	13. Online discussions improve my critical thinking skills
14. Online discussions improve my analytical skills	 Online discussions improve my ability to look at issues from different perspectives
15. I am satisfied with my own performance in online discussions for this course	15. I am satisfied with my own performance in online discussions for this course
 I am satisfied with my classmates' feedbacks in online discussions for this course 	16. I am satisfied with the interaction with my classmates in online discussions for this course
17. I am satisfied with my instructors' or teaching assistants' feedbacks in online discussions for this course.	17. I am satisfied with my instructor's feedback in online discussions for this course.

APPENDIX D

IRB APPROVAL



OFFICE OF RESEARCH COMPLIANCE

IN STITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD FOR HUMAN RESEARCH APPROVAL LETTER for EXEMPT REVIEW

Evan Way 113 Danielle Ln Summerville, SC 29483

Re: Pro00110583

Dear Mr. Evan Way:

This is to certify that the research study **Preparing Students to Think in the 21st Century: The Impact of Asynchronous Online Discussions on Critical Thinking Skills in a High School English Class** was reviewed in accordance with 45 CFR 48.104(d)(1), the study received an exemption from Human Research Subject Regulations on 7/13/2021. No further action or Institutional Review Board (IRB) oversight is required, <u>splong</u> ag the study remains the same. However, the Principal Investigator must inform the Office of Research Compliance of any changes in procedures involving human subjects. Changes to the current research study could result in a reclassification of the study and further review by the IRB.

Because this study was determined to be exempt from further IRB oversight, consent document(s), if applicable, are not stamped with an expiration date.

All research related records are to be retained for at least three (3) years after termination of the study.

The Office of Research Compliance is an administrative office that supports the University of South Carolina Institutional Review Board (USC IRB). If you have questions, contact Lisa Johnson at lisaj@mailbox.sc.edu or (803) 777-8670.

Sincerely,

Soma

Lisa M. Johnson ORC Associate Director and IRB Manager

University of South Carolina

1600 Hampton Street, Suite 414

Columbia, South Carolina 29208

803-777-7095

An Equal Opportunity Institution